RIDGELL v. HP ENTERPRISE SERVICES, LLC et al Doc. 23

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

)

TRACEY RIDGELL, )
)

Plaintiff, )

)

V. ) Civil Action No. 15-1637(RMC)

)

HP ENTERPRISE SERVICES, LLC )
etal., )
)

Defendants. )

)

OPINION

The morning of September 16, 20&farted as gypical Monday in the District of
Columbia Sotit wasat theWashington Navy YardWhie someheadedo their offices or
meeting, others drankheir morning coffeet their desks and chattabout their respective
weekends.This was the cader Frank Kohler, John Johnson, Mary Delorenzo Knight, Sylvia
Frasier, Jennifer Jacohigne McCulloughand Arthur Daniels, who reported early beit
respective workstations on thard and fourth floos of Navy Yard'sBuilding 197 It wasalso
the casdor Richard Michael Ridgellwhowelcomed employees an@itors from his guard
station @ the first floor,andfor Kenneth Bernard Proctowho enteredBuilding 197to get his
breakfast abe regularly did during his 2garcareer at the Navy Yard'hen what seemed to
be atypical Monday morning atthe Navy Yard quickly becamedark and tragic moment iour
Nation’'s capitalandthe lives of many families

At approximately800 a.m.,Aaron Alexis, a civiian contractor working as a
computer technician atthe Navy Yaeditered Buiding 197sing a valid temporary access card

and headed to hiworkstation in the fourth floor.Unknown to agone, Mr. Alexishada
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concealedsawedoff shotgunand ammunitionin his backpack He entered a restrooom the
fourth floor, pulled out the gun, and assembled it. As he came oopehed fire
indiscriminately. Mr. Alexis continued hiscarnage througharious floors othe building until
law enforcement officers fatally shiaim on the first floorat 9:25 a.m The shooting resulted in
twelve deaths anibur nonfatal injuries.

Before the Court are nine related lawsuits arising otheoNavy Yard shooting
Plaintiffs are thepersonal representatives the estategor surviving family members or heirsj
severndecedentsasurvivor seriouslyinjured by Mr. Alexis and a survivor who was a witness to
the shooting Plaintiffs assert a combination of negligence and intentional tort claims agdnst H
Enterprise Services, LLC (HPES), which provided information technologycss to the U.S.
Navy as a government contractor, and The Experts, Inc. (The Experts), wisicn W& ES
subcontractor and Mr. Alexis’s employer. In additidhree of the nine cases also incluclaims
againstHBC Management Services, Inc. and The Hana Group, Inc. (collectively), MB{Ch
provided security services at Building 197 of the Navy Yard.

The question raised by thesdatedawsuits is whether these companies can be
held liable for money damages to the families of the decedents and to thertvors for the
criminal acts of Aaron Alexis.For the reasons that follow, the Court will granpartand deny
in partthe motions to dismiss filed by HPES and The Expeftge Court will grant HBC’s
motion to dismiss. Only Plaintiffs’ claims of negligent retention and sigm@r against HPES

and The Expertsvil remainand proceed to discome



l. FACTS?

In seven of the nine cases, ttwnplaints seek damages for tieaths of those
murdered by Mr. Alexis:
e Delorenzo v. HP Enterprise Servs., LI@ase No. 1:16v-0216RMC
e Frasierv. HP Enterprise Servs., LLCase No. 1:38v-1492RMC
e Proctorv. HP Enterprise Servs., LL.Case No. 1:16v-1494RMC
e HalmonDaniels v. The Experts, In€€Case No. 1:}5v-150:RMC
e Kohlerv. HP Enterprise Servs., LLCase No. 1:}5v-1636RMC

e Ridgellv. HP Enterprise Servs., LLCase No. 1:}6v-163#RMC

Zagamiv. HP Enterprise Servs., LLCase No. 1:26v-1638RMC
The remaining two complaintseek damages for injurie@nental, emotionalandphysical)
suffered during the shooting:

e McCulloughv. HP Enterprise Servs., LL.Case No. 1:35v-1633RMC

e Jacobsv. The Experts, In€Case No. 1:28v-2242RMC

Plaintiffs assertommon lawnegligenceclaims against both HPES and The

Experts for faiing to anticipate and prevent the mass shooting by Mr. Alsxiselaas claims
of negligent hiring, retention, supervisionndertaking, and credentialing?laintiffs also rely on

various statutes, regulations, and policy manuals to assert negligenseand statutory duty

1 These facts are takerrafitly from the Complaints in the nine related cases. The Courisbas a
considered documents incorporated by reference in the Compl&ets EEOC v. St. Francis
Xavier Parochial Schopll17 F.3d 621, 624 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (stating that courts may eonsid
documents incorporated by reference in a complaint, as well as anysnoatdrich the Court

may take judicial notice, without converting a motion to dismiss into a matiosummary
judgment); see also Ward v. D.C. Dep’t of Youth Rehab. Sgf@8.F Supp. 2d 117, 1120
(D.D.C. 2011) (explaining that courts may consider such documents even if they are not
produced “by the plaintiff in the complaint but by the defendant in a motion to sligmis
(cttations and internal quotation marks omitted).
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claims against HPES and The Expertis. addition, Mr. Proctor and Ms. McCulloughllege that
HPES a&ad The Expertarevicariously liable for Mr. Alexis’s intentional torts of assault and
battery. Finally, Ms. Kohler, Ms. Zagami, and Ms. Jacobs asernegligence claims against
the security company;iBC. Richard Ridgell worked for HBC and his estate does not sue his
former employer. None of the other Plaintiffs worked for any of the Defesdant

The nine Complaints include lengthy factual allegations regarding Mr. Alexis
history and the sequence of events prior to the mass shootBgptémber 16, 2013 laintiffs
rely extensively orgovernmentinvestigatiors, particularly by the Navy, and adagbvernment
determinations, in many instancesrbatimas part of theiown allegations.

A. History of M r. Alexis Prior to his Employment with The Experts?

Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Alexis had an arrest record long beforedsehired by
The Experts and assigned to work at the Washington Navy Yard. On June 3, 2004, lthe Seatt
Police Department arrestbtf. Alexis for allegedly shootingut the rear tires of a construction
worker’s vehicle. Mr. Alexis told the police that the construction wonket disrespected him
and that he had a blackout fueled by anger. Mr. Alexis was chargate\emprosecutear
convicted, with malicious mischiefPlaintiffs also allege that, in 2006, Mr. Alexis was
investigated because the tires of five vehicles in Mr. Alexis’s apattcomplex were slashed.
Mr. Alexis was not arresteor charged on this occasiolm 2007 theOffice of Personnel
Management ran a records check on Mr. Alexis, who was serving in the Navyecbnds

check revealed the 2004 arrestin Seattle. Mr. Alexis provided a vadtount of the 2004

2 For purposes of ruling on the motions to dismiss, the Court accepts thasg ddegations as
true, noting that Plaintiffs failed to properly alege that HPES orBptperts knew or should
have known about these facts about Mr. Alexis prior to his emploly with The Experts.
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incident to the Naval Recruiting District, whieltso conducted an inquiry into relevant court
documents.

On August 10, 2008, Mr. Alexis was removed from a nightatubeKalb
County, Georgia. Mr. Alexis was screaming profanities and acting intie hognner. He was
arrestedor disorderly conduct but never prosecuted or convicte@n July 12, 2009n Fort
Worth, TexasMr. Alexis received a nofudicial punishmentby the Navyand was reduced one
pay gradeafter he jumped from a staircase whilportedly intoxicated and fractured his hig
ankle. “There was no police involvement in this incident.” Frasiempl, Case No. 18492
[Dkt. 1] 1 21. On Septemér 5, 2010, he was again arrested in Fort Whartllischarging a
firearm in his residence. The bullet went through the cailiniyir. Alexis’s apartment into a
neighbots apartment. Mr. Alexis told the police that it was an accident atchéhwas cleaning
his firearm. Mr. Alexis was neveharged or convicted for discharging the fireaitiis Navy
Commanding Officer initiated adnistrative proceedings against Mr. Alexis to separate him
from the Navy, but the proceedings did nonhtinueonce it became clear that Mr. Alexis was
not going to be chargeaith a crime

On December 2, 2010, Mr. Alexis requested separation from the Navy under the
Enlisted Early Transition Program. On December 9, 2010, the Bureawaf Rersonnel
approved Mr. Alexis’s request. Mr. Alexis was honorably discharged fromNdkg and
received a reentry code of REL, whichmadeMr. Alexis eligible to reenlist in the Navy or
anotherarmed serviceIn addition, Mr. Alexis received a Navy Reserve ldentification and
Priviege Card.

B. Employment History of Mr. Alexis with The Experts
In September 2012, Mr. Alexis applied for employment egnaputertechrician

with The Experts, a subcontractor of HPES, which performed work for the Nawuythede
5



Navy-Marine Corps Intranet Continuity of Service Contréontract)® The Contract invoked
the National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual (NISE@igh defined the
security requirements for cleared defense contractors, and relited and The Experts “to
develop and maintain a program that ensures all pertinent derogatory informeagamaling
cleared personnel is forwarded for consideration inp#rsonnel security clearance
determination process.” Proctor Comyilase No. 13494 [Dkt. 1] 1 18. Sgcfifically,
NISPOM requiredcleared contractors to convey atgrogatory informationabout Contract
personneto the Departmendf Defense’§DoD) Central AdjudicationFacilty via “incident
reports” through the Joint Personnel Adjudication System, “which iBdiesystem of record
for personnel security clearance adjudication and manage mient"19.

Under NISPONk terms Mr. Alexis alreadyhada valid security clearanaehen
he was hirebecause he had not been separated from the Navy for mor24tiaonths. In
addition to NISPOM'’s security requirements, HPES required The Expectsituct a pre
employment eligibility background check, “whidnvolved a drug test, a motor vehicle driving
record check, and criminal convictions checkil” | 24. Mr. Alexis was found to be suitable
and given hishonorable discharge, 4entry code of REL, and security clearance, The Experts
hired Mr.Alexis as a computer technician assigned to wawkhe Contract Plaintiffs allege
that Mr. Alexis should not have been found eligible for the position because tbmplyment
background check should have revealed Mr. Alexis’s arrests.

Mr. Alexis worked fo The Experts from September to December 2012 on various

projects in Texas, California, and Japan. On December 27, 2012, Ms Adsigned.Plaintiffs

3 For purposes of the motions to dismiss, HPES and the Court treat Ms Aleain employee or
contractor of both HPES and The Experts.



makeno allegations concerning Mr. Alexis’s condumtbehavior during this short stintOn
June 272013, Mr. Alexis reapplied for the same position. Since Mr. Alexis still had a valid
security clearance, The Experts memynductedthe tests required by its conttavith HPES—
namely a drug test, a motor vehicle driving record check, ancha@riconvictions check.
Once again, Mr. Alexis was found to be suitable for the jobwaaslrehired on July 2013 and
assigned to wiix in Norfolk, Virginia. Once againPlaintiffs allege that “The Expefik
background check failed to uncover Alexis’s prior arrestrecord and w[asioesuf’ Id. { 27.

1. Events of August 2013

In August 2013 Mr. Alexis was reassigned to a project at the Naval Undersea
Warfare Centein Newport Rhode Island. On August 4, Mr. Alexis was at the Norfolk airport
awaiting his flight to Providence, Rhode Island, when he called his projedinador at The
Experts to report that he was angry at a male who was seated across Hmdwaigls making
fun of him. The project coordinator was able to calm Mr. Alexis down and persuaded b t
away from the individual and seek help from airport secuf@y August 5, 2013, the project
coordinator reported the call tbe company’'s Contract team. Latieait day,Mr. Alexis
contacted the company’s travel coordinator to complain about noise in histhetesidence
Inn in Middletown, Rhode Island. Mr. Alexis wanted to move to the Navy Gataway&l
Suites in Newport, which was approved.

Two days late on August 6, 2013at 6:00 p.m.Mr. Alexis called the travel
coordinator for The Experts to complain that three individuals, two men and oat féad
followed him from the Residence Inn to the Navy Gateway Inns & Suites Alekis claimed
that the “were talking about him through the walls of ajacent room” and were using an

“ultrasont device that was physically pinning him to the bed” and keeping him avakder



Compl., Case No. 15636 [Dkt. 11] 1 37; Ridgell Compl., Case No.-1637 [Dkt 1-1] | 35;
Zagami Compl., Case No.- 1538 [Dkt. 11] § 37; Jacobs Compl., Case No:2&12 [Dkt. 11]
1 47. Mr. Alexis made a similar report to the Contract’'s program managé@iiExperts.At
8:45 p.m., lhe travel coordinator conveyed the information to the desk clerk atthe Nawyagate
Inns & Suites and expressed her concern that Mr. Alexis could harm son&toordy
therealfter, the travel coordinator contacted the Contract’s program maémagport the
information concerning Mr. Alexis.

In responsgthe desk clerlat the hotel contacted tidaval Station Newport
Policeto relay the information araskthat apolice officerbe assigned close to the hatecase
Mr. Alexis attempted to hurt someofeéNhen the police officers responded to tiadl and
arrived at the hotel, they discovered that Mr. Alexis had dismantled his bedseche believed
that someone was hiding under it. In addition, Mr. Alexis had taped a microphdre rémin’s
ceiling to record the voices of the individuals that followed him to the hotthvere talking
about him. Mr. Alexis was not arrested or placed in protective custot9:1&\ p.m., Mr.
Alexis told other police officers that someone had implanted a chip in hikamelvas using
microwave signals to restrict his movements and keep him awake.

Later that evening, the Contract’s program manager, her immediate maaraer
the Facilty Security Officer (FSO¥or The Expertsheld a conference call to dissuthe
situation with Mr.Alexis. The Expertsnanagement teadecided that Mr. Alexis should leave

Newport and return to Fort Worth so he could rest. The program managereahicAlexis

4 The Police Department received a total of four calls from and about Mis Ale specifcally,
on August 6 at 2:.00 a.m., 9:18 p.m., and 10:16 p.m., and August 7 at 2.54 a.m.

5The FSO is a company officer who reported directly to the Chief OperatiifugGand was
responsible for managing the security program under the Contract for ThesExpe
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to inform him of the decisionalthoughMr. Alexis wanted to stay. At 11:35 p.m., theG-S
accessed the Joint Personnel Adjudication System to cancel “theotitation for [Mr.]
Alexis that the FSO previously established for access to [NewpatalNUndersea Warfare
Center].” Proctor Compl. 1 43.

On August 7, 2013, at 1:12 a.m., thegram manager emaied HPES
representatives and the rest of the Contract's managementote@ine Experts to report that
Mr. Alexis would not complete his Newport assignment because he was limgt feell and that
she had bookeceturn airfarefor Mr. Alexis. Around 3:00 a.m., Mr. Alexis called the HPES
second shift supervis@tating thathe was being followed and needed to move out of his room.
Mr. Alexis asked the HPES supervisor if he could stay in her room at th@ttlhotel in
Newport. The sugrvisor, who knew Mr. Alexis from previously working together ongigect
in Japan, agreed to let him stay in her room. When Mr. Alexis arrivie Marriott hotel, he
told the supervisor that three individuals who traveled on the same plane éréotk Kollowed
him to the Residence Inn and then to the Navy Gateway Inns & @mitewere threatening him
and keeping him awake.

Mr. Alexis alsotold the HPES supervisor that the same people had followed him
to the Marriott hotel and checked into themobelow. Mr. Alexis asked the supervisor if she
could heatheir voices, to which she replied that she could not. The supervisor dismissed Mr.
Alexis’s story and went to sleep. Mr. Alexis called the City of Newpoiice to report that
people were following him. The police respotide his call at 6:20 a.m. aidr. Alexis
explained that he hathda verbal altercation with an unknown individual at the Norfolk airport
and that this individual sent three people to follow him and keep him awakekingmaises,

talking to him, and sending vibrationkraugh his bodywith a microwave deviceThe City of



Newport Police made a report of Mr. Alexis’s allegations. At 9:30.,ahe Newport Police
Officer-in-Charge contacted thidaval Station Police Sergeantrelay the information
concerning Mr. Alexis and faxed him a copy of the report with a note saying, dff¥fis. Just
thought to pass it on to you in the event this person escalates.” FIoatpk T 52.

Between 10:00 and 10:30 a.m., the HPEStigm contacted her lead supervisor
at HPES to report Mr. Alexis’s behavior atldims to which the lead supervisor responded that
The Experts had decided that Mr. Alexis wouldwadrawnfrom his Newport assignment.
When the HPES second shift supervisor returned to her room, Mr. Alexis tdlatibe three
individuals were now in the room above them. Mr. Alexis wanted to acqrérdaa gun to hear
what they were saying. The HPES second shift supervisor called theufesadisor again after
lunch to report her conversation with Mr. Alexis. She also lateratolsiworkerat HP ESabout
Mr. Alexis’s behavior and theurrounding events.

Later that dayon August 7, the Human ResourdétR) Director and the Legal
Counsel for The Experts intiated an investigation into Mr. Alexdaims. The HR Director
contactedhe HPES second shift supervisor, as well as the Middletown Police BepartThe
HR Directorbelieved that “the Middletown Police Department provided police coveragd for
of the hotel in which Alexis resided while in Newport, Rhode IslarféitdctorCompl. I 60.
However, no reports were obtained from Middletown becausesitiveawrong police
department. At 11:39 p.m.the FSO for The Experts accessed the Joint Personnel Adjudication
System and entered a “Debrief” action, therfdognally indicating that Mr. Alexis no longer

required access to classified informationto he Naval Undersea Warfare CentBecauseuvir.

6 The police departments that investigated Mr. Alexis’s claims werndakal Station Newport
Police and the City of Newport Police Departments.

10



Alexis was removed from his Newport assignmentlefieNewport and checked in that night at
the Best Western hotakthe Providence airport. On August 8, 2013, Mr. Alexis traveled to Fort
Worth, Texas.

OnAugust 9, 2013, thelR Director for The Experts contacted Mr. Alexis’s
mother, who indicated that Mr. Alexibad been suffering from paranoia for a long time, that
this was not the first episode he had experienced, and that he required nadthtdfdwnent’
Kohler Compl. 1 52; Ridgell Compl. § 50; Zagami Compl. fJ;0bs Complf] 63. Later that
day, the HR Director metith the FSO and the rest of The Expentginagement teaon the
Contract; that grougoncluded that Mr. Alexis shoulestbeforehis next assignment. The
Experts, particularly the FSO, decided not to dile adverse information report wiboD’s
Central Adjudicabn Facilty because “the information collected about [Mr.] Alexis wasetl
on rumor and innuendo, and therefore a report to the government should not be made, since
doing so may infringe on [Mr.] Alexis’s privacy rights.” Proc@ompl. 65.

At 2:55 p.m, on August 9, 2013the FSO entered an “indoctrination” action,
indicating that Mr. Alexis “was an individual [with] authorized acdessassified information
under the cognizance of The Expertsd. | 66. Thereafter, Mr. Alexis was assignedftor
projects at differst locations—specifically, (1) Wiliamsburg, Virginia from August 415,

2013; (2) Newport, Rhode Island from AugustZ® 2013;(3) Carderock, Maryland from
August 2630, 2013; an@4) Crystal City, Virginia from September@ 2013. Plaintiffs alleg

that Mr. Alexis was allowed to return to work without any proof of counselingemtahhealth
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treatment. There are no allegations whusual behavior during Mr. Alexis’s deployments to
Wiliamsburg, Newport, Carderock, and Crystal City.

2. Events of Sptember2013

On September 9, 2013, The Experts assigned Mr. Alexis to the Washington Navy
Yard. This was his fifth assignment since the events of Augdsf@13. Plaintiffs allege that
“HPES and The Experts provided Mr. Alexis access to the Navy ¥aittyf and Building 197
on the basis of his ‘SECRET’ security clearance” and without conducting “aripeldi
background checks or fithess for duty checks or examinatansequesting proof of mental
health treatmentKohler Compl. § 58; Ridgell CorhpY 56; Zagami Compl. T 58acobsCompl.
1 69. “During the week of September 9, 2013, other than leaving a disk in a classified expmput
no performance issues were note&foctorCompl. 1 69.

On September 14, 281Mr. Alexis purchased a Remingt@Y0 12gauge
shotgun and ammunition in Lorton, Virginia. He then purchased a hacksaw andeotiseat a
home improvement store. Mr. Alexis sawed off the shotgun so that he would e ednley it

in his bag and conceal it. He also carved the worgsELF[extremelylow frequency]

weapon,”“better of [sic] this way,” “not what y'all say,and “end to the tormentihto the

" The only instance alleged was amail exchange on September 1, 2013 between Mr. Alexis
and the president of Freedom from Covert Harassment and Surveillance (F#OMSch Mr.
Alexis claimed that he was subject to “constant bombardment from gpmef {extremely low
frequency or] ELF weapon, that had almost cost him his job.” Proctor CompKirfies@al
guotation marks omitted). The allegation is irrelevant to Plaintéfgims because FFCHS has
no connection with Defendants and there are no factual allegations to shoveftraddnts

knew or should have known about thisnaill exchange. FFCHS sadentifies as a noprofit
organization that helps “victims” or “targets” of “Remote Brain expenitation, Remote Neural
Monitoring of an entire Huams Body $ic]; manipulated by such evil technologies as Patented
Voice-to-(Human}Skull (the forceful 24/7 of projected noise to a citizen’s head) even to Remote
Burns by high powered lasers, or burns by Directed Energy and more.” FFCHS\W/IRxp,
https://www.freedomfchs.net/whate-do/ (last visited Aug. 2, 2016).
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shotgun. FrasierCompl. 47. No Plaintiff, victim, or Defendant knew these facts unti the later
government investigation.On September 16, 2013, at 7:44 a.m., Mr. Alexis adin a rental

car at the 6th &et gate of the Navy Yard and used his valid common access card to enter.
After parking his carat approximately 8:00 a.nhe used his valid temporary building pass to
erter thelobby of Building 197 passing by the HBC guard station. Mr. Alexis did not pass
through any metal detectors aheé HBC guards did not search his belongingte was carrying

a backpack to conceal the gun and ammunition.

Mr. Alexis headed to the restroom on the fourth floor. At 8:15 a.m., Mr. Alexis
exited the restroom and began shooting people indiscriminately. Using the shotguBexrtta
handgun that hook from Officer Ridgell, one of the decedents and an employee of MIBC,
Alexis kiled twelve individuals and injuredour others. Afteroveran hour of carnage, Mr.
Alexis was shot and kiled by a police officer at 9:25 aAmote was found in Mr. Alexis’s
computer stating, “ultra low frequency attack is what I've been subject thef last three
months, and to be perfectly honest that is what has driven me to this.” Basipk | 47.

C. Procedural History
Following the events of September 16, 2013, the Nawvybaiiconducted

separatextensive investigations and issued lengthy reportsir. Alexis and the shooting.
Plaintiffs rey on these reports their pleadings and cite, in many instangesbatim the
reports’ determinations The nine related caseame before #Court in dverse ways Oneof
the complaints(Delorenzo)was originally filed ina Florida state court.t Was then removed to
the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Florida, and eually transferred to this Court.
Three of the complaint¢Frasier,Proctor,and HalmorDanielg were directly filed in this Court,
and theremaining five (Kohler, Ridgel, Zagami, McCullough, and Jacobs) wegipally filed

in Superior Court for the District of Columbia and then removed here.
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This Court has jurisdiction over the nine complaints pursuant to 28 L3332
because the parties in each case are citizens of different states and theracamiraversy
exceeds the sum of $75,000 exclusive of interest and costs. Moreover, deggde that the
venueproperly lies in this CourtD.C. tort law controls this diversity actiorthe Experts moves
to dismiss the nine complaints for lack of subject matter jurisdiaiotier Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(1) aneh the alternativefor failure to stée a claim upon which relief may be
granted under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)HPES and HBC move to dismiss the
complaints against theomder Federal Rule of Civii Procedure 12(b)(6). Plaintiffs filed their
respective oppositions, to whicrei2ndants replied. In addition, atthe Court's request, HBC
and Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs fied supplemental briefecumgthe relevance of
HBC's security contract with Naval Facilties Engineering Commanthe negligence claims
againstHBC. Finally, on August 16, 2016, the Court held oral argurineapen courind gave
the parties ample time &xpand ortheir argumentsnd discuss the various grounds for
dismissaP Defendantsmotions to dismiss are fully briefed and ripe for retsmiu

II. LEGAL STANDARD S

A. Motionto Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(1)

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civii Procedure 12(b)(1), a defendant may move to

dismiss a complaint, or any portion thereof, for lack of subject matigdigtion. Fed. R. Civ.

8 Counsel for each defendant had the opportunity to argue its own motion to dismidse On't
Plaintiffs’ side, counsel for Mr. Proctor argued the issues of heightenedefmibility and the
claims of negligent hiring, retention, and supervismnbehalf of all Plaintiffs. Counsel for
Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgel, Zagami, and Jacobs addressed the potficedtion doctrine on behalf
of all Plaintiffs. Counsel for these Plaintiffs also adjtleeir uniqgue claims on their own behalf,
specffically those based on the D.C. Industrial Safety Act, D.C. G&l82801 to-812, against
HPES and The Experts, as well as the negligence claim against Hily, Fiounsel for
Plaintiff Delorenzo arguedn her behalf a negligence claim against HPES and The Experts
based on the criminal prohibition against firearms in federal fagilii@sU.S.C. § 930.See
generally8/16/2016 Hr'g Tr.
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P. 12(bj1). No action of the parties can confer subject matter jurisdiction on safexbert
because subject matter jurisdiction is both a statutory and an Aftiodejlirement.Akinseye v.
District of Columbia339 F.3d 970, 971 (D.Cir. 2003). The pary claiming subject matter
jurisdiction bears the burden of demonstrating that such jurisdiction eKikedr v. United
States529 F.3d 1112, 1115 (D.Cir. 2008); seeKokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am.
511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994) (noting tHiateral courts are courts of limited jurisdiction and ‘[iJt is
to be presumed that a cause lies outside this limited jurisdicaioeh the burden of establishing
the contrary rests upon the party asserting jurisdiction”) (interratioot omitted).

Dismissal on the basis that Plaintiffslaims present nejisticiable poltical
guestionsconstitutes a dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction undier R(b)(1) and
“not an adjudication on the merits GonzalezVera v. Kissinger449 F.3d 1260, 262 (D.C.Cir.
2009. When reviewing a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction under Rule 12(l3(Gpurt
should “assume the truth of all material factullgations in the complaint anddnstrue the
complaint liberally, granting the plaintiff tHeenefit of all inferences that can berided from
the facts alleged.” Am. Natl Ins. Co. v. FDIC 642 F.3d 1137, 1139 (D.Cir. 2011) (quoting
Thomas v. Principi394 F.3d 970, 972 (D.Cir. 2005)). Nevertheless, “the court need not
accept factual fierences drawn by plaintiffs if those inferences are not supported by facts
alleged in the complaint, nor must the Court @te&intiff's legal conclusions.”"Speelman v.
United States461 F.Supp.2d 71, 73 (D.D.C2006). A court may consider matesabutside the
pleadings to determine its jurisdictiorSettles v. U.S. Parole Comm429 F.3d 1098, 1107
(D.C. Cir. 2005); Coal. for Underground Expansion v. Mine&33 F.3d 193, 198 (D.Cir.
2003). A court has “broad discretion to consider relevant and competent evidencedhe res

factual issues raised by a Rule 12(b)(1) motiéinca Santa Elena, Inc. v. U.S. Army Corps of
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Engineers873 F.Supp.2d 363, 368 (D.D.C2012) (citing 5B Charles Wrigh& Arthur Miler,
Fed. Prac. & Pro., Civil 8 1350 (3d ed. 2004¢e alsdMacharia v. United State238 F.Supp.
2d 13, 20 (D.D.C.2002),aff’d, 334 F.3d 61 (2003) (in reviewing a factual challenge to the
truthfulness of the allegations in a complaiatcourt may examine testimony and affidavit§).
these circumstances, consideration of documents outside the pleadings doeserbitioe
motion to dismiss into one for summary judgmeAd-Owhaliv. Ashcroft279 F.Supp.2d 13,
21 (D.D.C.2003).

B. Motion to Dismiss Under Rule 12(b)(6)

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim pursuant to Fe&eial of Civil
Procedure 12(b)(6) challenges the adequacy of a complaint on itsFadeR. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).
A complaint must be sufficient “toMg a defedant fair notice of what the . claim is and the
grounds upon which it restsBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb[yb50 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (internal
citations omitted). Although a complaint does not need detailed factualekats, a plaintiffs
obligation to provide the grounds of his entitlement to relief “requires thamelabels and
conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a causeoof aiitnot do.” Id. A
court must treat the complaist'factual allegations as trueyen if doubtful in fact,’id., but a
court need not accept as true legal conclusions set forth in a comgdaAshcroft v. Iqgbal556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009)To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient
factual matter, acceptexs true, to state a claim for relief that is “plausible on its face.”
Twombly 550 U.S. at 570A complaint must allege sufficient facts that would allow the court
“to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for thenchietalleged.” Iqbal,
556 U.S. at67/449. In deciding a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), a court may consider the facts

alleged in the complaint, documents attached to the complaint as exhibt®rporated by
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reference, and matters about which the court nmayjtalicial notice. Abhe & Svoboda, Inc. v.
Chag 508 F.3d 1052, 1059 (D.Cir. 2007).
[l . ANALYSIS

A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction — Political Question Doctrine

The Expertsargues that the claims against it should be dismissed for lack of
subject mattewyisdiction under Rule 12(b)(1) because they raisejusticiable poliical
guestions. “The poltical question doctrine excludes from judicial review those contiesers
which revolve around policy choices and value determinations constitutionally tbedhar
resolution to the halls of Congress or the confines of the Executive Brateghan Whling
Ass’nv. Am. Cetacean SgcA78 U.S. 221, 23(1986) The underlying ationaleis that“courts
are fundamentally underequipped to formulate nationatigwlior develop standards for matters
not legal in nature.”United States ex rel. Joseph v. Canr@i2 F.2d 1373, 1379 (D.Cir.
1981)

“The political question doctrine igptimarily a function of the separation of
powers.” Schneider v. Kissinge810 F. Supp. 2d 25258 (D.D.C. 2004)aff’d, 412 F.3d 190
(D.C. Cir. 2005)(quoting Baker v. Carr369 U.S. 186, 210 (1962)). Baker, the Supreme
Court enumerated six factors that could render a caspstamble:

Prominent on the surface of awmpse held to involve a poltical

question is found(1l) a textualy demonstrable constitutional

commitment of the issue to a coordinate poltical departmerg)or

a lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for

resolving it; or(3) the immssibility of deciding without an initial

polcy determination of a kind clearly for nonjudicial discretion; or

(4) the impossibility of a court's undertaking independent resolution

without expressing lack of respect due coordinate branches of

government; or (5an unusual need for unquestioning adherence to

a poltical decision already made; ¢6) the potentialty of

embarrassment of multifarious pronouncements by various
departments on one question.
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Baker, 369 U.S. at 21fhumbers not in origingl)seealsoRalls Corp. v. Comm. on Foreign Inv.
758 F.3d 296, 313 (D.C. Cir. 2014). “Unless one of these formulations is iablerirom the
case at bar, there should be no dismissal fofjusticiability on the ground of a poliical
guestion’s presence.Baker, 369 U.S. at 217.The Experts contends that the first, second, and
fourth of the sixBakerfactors are implicatedh the Complaints—namely, textual constitutional
commitment to a poltical branch, lack of manageable standards, and thigapdiek of respect
to a coordinate branch of governmetitcalls the Navy “the elephant in the room (but not in the
caption)” and argues that given its “substantial aeddapable role” in these cadbs, claims
raise a poltical question. Experts MTDase No. 18216 [Dkt. 121]at 1° The Court disagrees.
With respect to the first factor, The Experts argue that Plaintiftsims invoke
issues that are constitutionally committed to the Navy and the Exe@rtneh The Experts
point out Navy'sinvestigation of Mr. Alexis’s background, the decision to grant him a Secret
level security clearancéhe decisionto honorably discharge him, and the decision not to report
Mr. Alexis’s arrests. None of this is relevalket alone inextricablefrom thecase at bat
Baker, 369 U.S. at 217 (emphasis addeBJaintiffs do not challenge these actionslavy’s
choices and actions are not at issue becBlusdExperts was not required to hire or retain Mr.
Alexis, orto assignhim to work at the Navy Yartbllowing the events of August 2013. In the
event that civil liability is imposed, it would be basadvhatThe Experts knew or should have
known about Mr. Alexisprior to the shoatg, regardless of whahe Navy knewor should have

reported.

9 The Experts filed an omnibus motion to dismiss and an omnibug lagl in all nine cases.
For purposes of clarity, the Court will only use the docket numbers of the Dxlooase when
citing its briefs. Nonetheless, both documents may be found in each of theasbsr
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Certainy, some of the Plaintiffs’ theories of liability would implicate teas that
are within the sole purview of the Executive, such as the issuance andioevotatsecurity
clearance.SeeDelorenzo Compl. Case No. 2216 [Dkt. 1] 1128082 (alleging tht had The
Experts made an adverse incident report under NISIMDMAlexis’s security clearance may
have been revoked, and faiscess to the Navy Yard denied)hese theories atenecessary to
advance aegligence claim.

With respectto the second dodrth factors, Plaintiffs’ claims do not require the
Court to pass judgment on any of the Navy’s actiofisere is no need to speculate as to what
the Navy should or could have done with respectto Mr. Alexis’s security otssaos arrest
record. Instead, the Court must analyzealegationsagainst The Experts under the analytical
framework applicable to negligence claims. This is what courts apdyidy law do on a daily
basis and, thus, it cannot be said thatldbal standards governinthese tort claims are not
judicielly manageable. Finally, whie the actions and judgments of the Nauyeaitably
lurking backgroundfacts they are not implicated in any of the claims against Defendahes.e
is no potential risk that the Court'siaysis of the merits in these cases wil disrespect the Navy
or the Executive.Even if the Navy were to hold part of the blame for the damages sustained in
these cases, it does not render the claims against The Expejistio@ble on the basis of a
poltical question. SeeHill v. McDonald, 442 A.2d 133, 137 (D.C. 1982) (stating that “one
cannot escape liability for one’s own neglgence merely because another persay.have
contributed to the injury by his wrongful or negligent act”).

Accordindy, the Court holds that Plaintiffs’ claims present a justiciable question

and that it has jurisdiction to address the mefithese Complaints.
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B. Motionsto Dismissby HPES and The Experts

Plaintiffs allege tort clans against HPES and The Expert$ie commorthread
across the nine complaints are tmnmon lawnegligence claimgi.e., negligent hiring,
retention, supervision, undertaking, and credentialgagainst both defendants for failure to
anticipate and prevent the criminal acts of Mr. AlexisSeptember 16, 2013The nine
complaints are premised on thasic allegationthat Mr. Alexis’s behavior prior to September
16, 2013 raised serious concerns alqmgsible violent tendencieshat should have alerted HPES
and The ExpertsThere are alswarious countsalleging claims of statutory duty in tort and/or
negligenceper seagainst both defendants, as well as tlwaants of assault and battdrgsed on
a theory of vicarious liability. HPES and The Expertargue that Plaintiffs’ theories of lidiby
are legally deficient anthat theComplaintsagainst thenmust be dismissed as a matter of law.
The main point of contention revolves around the applicable legal standard éclios
rooted in D.C. negligence law.

1. Theories of Negligence undeD.C. Common Law

To state a claimon which relief can be granteBlaintiffs must allege sufficient
factsto make a plausible showirthat (1) HPES and The Experts owed a duty of cathdo
Plaintiffs; (2)HPES and The Experts breached this duty of care; and (3) the brebhatdaty
proximately causedach Plaintifls injuries. SeeDistrict of Columbia v. Harris770 A.2d 82, 87
(D.C. 2001). These three elements must be met to render HPES and ThésHiabér on ay
negligence theory for damages arising from the Navy Yard shooting.

In the District of Columbia, there is a “general rule of nonliabilitycahmon law
for harm resulting from the criminal acts of third parte®6mero v. Nat'l Rifle Asn of Am.,
Inc., 749 F.2d 77, 81 (D.C. Cir. 1984) (Scalia, (éiing Kline v.1500 Massachusetts Ave.

Apartment Corp.439 F.2d 477, 481 (D.C. Cir. 197@jall v. Ford Enterprises Ltd445 A.2d
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610, 611 (D.C. 1982)).0ne “limited exception to [this] ‘general rule of nonliabilityis the
heightened foreseealbiligrinciple, by which a defendant may be liable for harm resulting from
another’'scriminal act only ifit wereparticularly foreseeable to the defendant hidnird party
would commit the crime Workman v. United Methodist Conwom Relief 320 F.3d 259, 263
(D.C. Cir. 2003) (quotingRomerq 749 F.2d at 81)This heightened showing of foreseeability
has been described ‘@&exacting,” ‘demanding,” ‘precise,” and ‘restrictive.”Sigmund v.
Starwood Urban Iny475 F. Supp. 2d 36, 42 (D.D.C. 20@%jgmund), aff'd sub nom.
Sigmund v. Starwood Urban Retail VI, LLI&17 F.3d 512 (D.C. Cir. 201@pigmund I) (citing
Novak v. Capital Mgm't. & Dev. Corpd52F.3d 902, 912 (D.C. Cir. 2006Bel v. Colonial
Parking, Inc, 807 F. Supp. 796, 797 (D.D.C. 1992qtts v. District of Columbig97 A.2d
1249, 1252 (D.C. 1997} acy v. District of Columbigd24 A.2d 317, 323 (D.C. 1930)

The D.C. Court of Appeals has considered “the requisite dutgrefrequired for
negligence” to be “a function of foreseeabilty, arising only when foresieabiblleged
commensurate with ‘the extraordinary nature of [intervening] criminal cariduDistrict of
Columbia v. Beretta, U.S.A., Corg72 A.2d 633, 641 (D.C. 2005) (quotifptts 697 A.2d at
1252); see alsaNorkman320 F.3d at 265 (noting that “D.C. Courts have repeatedly spoken of

the heightened foreseeabilty requirement in terms of duty”) (citationsedi® In such

10The D.C. Circuit has noted that D.C. negligence law “might offend airtice” because
foreseeabilty is considered usually in terms of the constituent elerokhteach and causation,
as opposed to whether a duty is owddorkman 320 F.3d at 265 (“@linarily, the relationship
between the parties is the key to determining whether the defendant had adeffateable
duty to the plaintiff (or her decedent), whereas foreseeability is tamgoto issues of proximate
causation and conformity to theastlard of care, issues that arise only after a duty has been
found.”) (citations omitted). The D.C. Court of Appeals has acknowledgedriticism of D.C.
negligence law, yet hasnutinued to apply the analytical framework as®&ee Beretts872 A.2d
at 641 n.4.Accordingly, the Court “applies] the law of the District of Columbiait@®wn
courts would apply it” and does not “seceaqukss the analytical framework those courts have
erected.”Workman 320 F.3d at 265.
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circumstances, “the plaifftibears the burden of establishing that the criminal actwas so
foreseeable that a duty arises to guard againsPiifts 697 A.2d at 1252.

In cases involving thirgbarty criminal conduct, D.C. courts have “tended to
leapfrog directly to the foreselaiity issue” to resolve questions of liabilityWorkman 320 F.3d
at 265. This is precisely what the parties have done by focusing on the foilsexaVir.
Alexis’s criminal acts andrguing whetherany of the Complaints allegesufficient facts to show
that HPES and The Experts oweduty of care to PlaintiffsHPES and The Expertsargue that
heightened showing of foreseeabilty is required to render them liable beabsent such a
showing, the Court cannot find there veaguty to guard against Mr. Alexis’s criminal acts.

Plaintiffs oppose

I. Duty and Foreseeabilityin Claims of Negligent Hiring,
Retention, and Supervision

As HPES and The Experts contetfit heightened foreseeabilty requirement
stems from the extraord@iny nature of criminal conducSee McKethean v. WMA]TZ88 A.2d
708, 717 (D.C. 1991) (“Because of ‘the extraordinary nature of criminal corledgw
requires that the foreseeabilty of the risk be more precisely showquigjirig Lacy, 424 A.2d
at 23); see also Romer@49 F.2d at 83 (“[C]iil liability for the intervening, independent
criminal acts of third parties is extraordinary, and District oti@bla courts, in their
development of commelaw tort rules, have imposed especially stringent requirements to
support it.”) (citation omitted). Criminal conduct is said to be “extimary” because “under
ordinary circumstances it may reasonably be assumed that no one wil thalateminal law.”
Morgan v. District of Columbiagd68 A.2d 1306, 118 (D.C. 1983) (quotindRestatement
(Second) of Tortg 302B cmt. d (1965)). However, contrary to what HPES and The Experts

contend thethird-party criminal conductdoes notend the inquiry.
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In discussing intervening criminal acts and the applicableséeability standard,
D.C. courtsconsider thenegligence theory being advanaedl the circumstances of each case
“The question is not simply whether a criminal event is foreseeable hediher adutyexists to
take measures to guard against it . . . [, which] is ultimately a guedtifairness.”Romerg 749
F.2d at 79 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted) (emphasis makyrigi

There are two lines of cases in whigliessedegree of specificitys required
with respect t@vidence oforeseeability: thoseinvolving either (1) “a special relationship
between the parties to the 8uitr (2) “a relationship of control between the defendantthed
intervening criminal actor ..” .Romerq 749 F.2d at 81 (internal citations omitte{@cognizing
these two categories as “[t]he only District cases departing fromgtiae fal] rule” of
nonliability at common lawor intervening criminal acjssee alsoNorkman 320 F.3d at 263
(“From our review of the D.C. cases, we see that the requiremernth¢hdéfendant have been able to
foresee that a third party would likely commit a criminal act ordinarilg, had perhaps must have, a
relational component.”). In the absence of such relationships or when the stinoaes of a
particular casdo not suggest a duty of protection or a duty to control, then “the evidentiary hurdle is

higher” and the risk of the criminal act must be precisely showorkman320 F.3d at 2641

11 Workmanopined that “the casesiggest a sliding scaldf the relationship between the parties
strongly suggests a duty of protection, then specific evidence of foresgaaliiss important,
whereas if the relationship is not the type that entails a duty of poatettten the @dentiary
hurdle is highef. Workman 320 F.3d at 264 (holding that an international relief organization
owed no duty to protect aid contractor from murder by 4berdy Somalis). The Circuit
referenced only the relationship between the parties bettaisgas the issue implicated in the
case. Nonetheless, this Court finds that the sliding scale reasoningegoed the facts of
Workmanand extends to cases involving a relationship of control between the defenddm and t
intervening actorSee Sniit v. Hope Village, In¢481 F. Supp. 2d 172, 195 (D.D.C. 20G8g
alsoRestatement (Second) of Torts § 315 (“There is no duty . . . to control the cohduibird
person as to prevent him from causing physical harm to another unlespeciaaslationship
exists between the actor and the third person which imposes a duty upon the @atol the
third person’s conduct.”).

23



The rationale folessening the requirement of heightened foreseeaiiibases
involving a special relationship between the partigbas“the ability of one of the parties to
provide for his own protection has been limited in some way by his submission ctonthal of
the other, and, therefore}a duty should be imposed upon the one possessing control (and thus
the power to act) to take reasonable precautions to protect the other onsdeaisay third
parties which, at least, couldasonably have been anticipatedline, 439 F.2dat48312 This
category is inggicable heresince Plaintiffs did not submit in any way to the control of HPES or
The Expertsaand therds nospecialrelationship (contractual, at common law, or otherwise)
between them.

The focus ofPlaintiffs’ briefs revolves around theecond category @fases:
those involving a&pecialrelationship of control between defendants (HPES and The Experts)
and the interveningcriminal actor (Mr. Alexis). The heightened requirement of foreseeability is
lessenedn this category of caséeausehe defendant knows the actor, has the ability to
control or supervisehim, and can prevent his misconduct so long as#wessity and
opportunity to do sarises See, e.gRestatement (Second) of TogL16 (recognizing duty of
parent to controtonduct of child);id. 8 317 (recognizing duty of master to control conduct of

servant);jd. 8 318 (recognizing duty of possessor of land or chattels to control conduct of

12The D.C. Court of Appeals has recogniz¢itke“relationships of landowner to invitee,
businessman to patroeamploye to employee, school district to pupil, hospital to patient,
[Jcommon carrier to passenger [, and landlord to tenant]” as examplpsaidlisrelationships
that “give rise to aduty of one party to protect the other pdrgm foreseeable criminal acts of
third persons . ..” Hall, 445 A.2dat611 n.4 (citations omitted) (emphasis addesbe also
Workman320 F.3d at 264. In such cases, “the heightened foreseeabilty is lessepadhapm
and ‘can be met instead by a combination of factors which give defendants aredcreas
awareness of the danger of a particular criminal a&ifmund |475 F. Supp. 2d at 42 (citing
Novak 452 F.3d at 93,2Doe v. Dominion Banlkg63 F.2d 1552, 1561 (D.Cir. 1992); District
of Columbia v. Dogh24 A.2d 30, 33 (D.C. 1987)).
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icensee);d. 8§ 319 (recognizing duty of those in charge of person having dasgerou
propensties).

Under those circumstances, a duty to exercise reasonablesloaute “be imposed
upon the one possessing control (and thus the power to act) to take reasonable preicautions
prevent the person undis control from intentionally harmg others or from conducting
himself asto creat@n unreasonable risk of bodily harmotbers Kline, 439 F.2dat 483 (noting
“there is no liability normally imposed upon the one having the power to act if theceiale
sudden and unexpectpdovidedthat the source of the violence is not an employee of the one in
control’) (emphasis addedgee also Phelan v. City of Mount Raini&d5 A.2d 930, 941D.C.
2002) (“Generaly, one has no duty to prevent the criminal acts of a thirdwdaotis not under
the defendant’s supervision or contuplless the criminal conduct was the foreseeable result of
the person’s negligence.”) (internal quotation marks and citation omfigmdhasis added).

Naturally, the one possesgicontrol is not an insurer plblic safety.A duty of
care is owed only to those persons foreseeably exposed to tbéhahkn resulting fronthe
actor’'s misconduct—specifically, those brought into contact with a third person subject to the
defendant’s control or supervision whom the defendant “knows or should know to be geculiarl
likely to commit intentional or reckless misconducRestatement (First) of Tor§302, cmt. n
(1930); see also Fleming. Bronfin 80 A.2d 915, 917 (D.C. 1951)Under these circumstances,
adefendnt “is required to anticipate and provide against all of these miscondegaidless of
whether the “third person’s misconduct is or is not criminal at commororammder a statute.”
Restatement (First) of Torts § 302, cmt.Moreover,a defendant “is subject to liability only for
such harm as is within the risk . .. caused by the quality of the employele thvbhiemployer had

reason to suppose would be likely to cause harm.” Restatement (Second) of ABéBcy 8
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(1958); seealsoArgonne House Co. Garrison 42 F.2d 605 (D.C. Cir. 1930) (holding that
employer's knowledge of employee’s criminal conviction for intoxication did notpudloyer
on notice that employee might be a thief).

To prevail on dheory ofnegligent hing, retention, or supeision, ‘it is
incumbent upon a party to show that an employer knew or should have known its employee
behaved in a dangerous or otherwise incompetent manner, and that the emplae nvidrm
that actual or constructive knowleddailed to adequately supgse the employee.'Giles v.
Shell Oil Corp, 487 A.2d 610, 613 (D.C. 1985) (citifgurphy v. Army Distaff Found., Inei58
A.2d 61, 64 (D.C. 1983) This standardmay apply to intentional conduct outside the scope of
employment, even when the condigctriminal in nature.See Int'l Distrib Corp. v. AmDist.
Tel. Co, 569 F.2d 136, 139 (D.C. Cir. 1977) (stating that “an employer has a duty to supervis
those of its employees who are privieged because of their employment tarexter’s
property” and noting that “[tlhis duty even extendsaitivities which, like heft, are outside the
scope of employment”) (citing Restatement (Second) of BB%7 and accompanying
comments). With respect tdow the interplay between duty and foreseeabilty works in practice
in the context of negligent hiring, retention, or suwn claims, the Court is left to reason by
analogy from applicable D.C. cases.

In Murphy v. Army Distaff Foundation, Inthe D.C. Court of Appeals reversed
the entry of summary judgment in favor of a retrement home for wives of sisttaamy
officers after thehome’s gardener shattrespassesix times 458 A.2d at 62. The trespasser
sued the retirement home fas injuries under a theory of negligent supervisioee idat 62
n.1, 63. The D.C. Court of Appealoted that, to prevail under this theory of liability, the

plaintiff needed to establish that the retrement home “knew or should have Hraivwts
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employee regularly ejected trespassers while armed, and tteanhieyerfailed to take
reasonable precautionary measures in supervising Id. at 63. Other than evidence of prior
altercations between tlgardener and trespassing youtiere was nevidencethat the employer
knew or should have known that the gardenearfied a gun or had a propensity to use’dne.
Id. at 64. Nonetheless, the D.C. Court of Appeals reversed the trial courtisarsummary
judgment and remanded the case for tniathe basis that[o]jne who engages in an enterprise
is under a duty to anticipate and to guard against the human traits of his emplbjeresniess
regulated are likely to harm othéts.d. (quoting Restatement (Second) of Agerg213,cmt.

9)

Murphyis not a paradigm dflarity or precisiomt® What is clear is thaviurphy
ultimately did not require specific evidence of fores@iey when it reversed the trial court’s
entry of summary judgmentMurphydemonstrates thatwarenesef an employee’slangerous
behavioror attributes could bsufficient to establish foreseeabiltynder a theory of negligent
supervisionif that attibute proximately causedhe injury sustained by the plaintif—an
outcome clearly inconsistent with thequirement of specific foreseeabilty evidend@ompare
Restatement (Second) of Agergy13 and Restatement (Third) of Agency § 7.0%2006)
with Sigmund, 475 F. Supp. 2d at 42 (noting tleetteightenedshowing offoreseeability
“requires proof that the specific type of crime, not just crime in gdres particularly
foreseeable at the relevant location”) (citRgmero,749 F.2d at 780; Lacy,424 A.2d at 323)
andMcKethean588 A.2d at 717¢xplaining “that a specific crime, ‘rather than merely harm in

general,’[must befforeseeably (citihg Romerq 749 F.2d at 780).

131t is not clear why the D.C. Court of Appeals first stated that spamifiof that the garder
regularly ejected trespassers while armed was necessary, bubihdriHat evidence of prior
altercations could be sufficient by itself to find the employer liable.

27



The D.C. Court of Appeabkasconfirmed this reading dflurphyin slbsequent
casednvolving criminal misconductandallegationsof negligent hiring, supervision, and
retention. Speciffically, iGilesv. Shell Oil Corp,.a case involving a suitgainst Shell for
damages arising fromnincident in whicha service statiomattendant fatally shot a bothe D.C.
Court of Appealselied onMurphyto articulate thdoreseeabilty standard applicable to claims
of negligent hiring, retention, and supervisier namely, whether “an employer knew or should
have known its employeeebaved in a dangerous or otherwise incompetent mannet Giles
487 A.2d at 613 (citingMurphy, 458 A.2d at 64}4

In Brown v. Argenbright Security, In¢he D.C. Court of Appeals held that a store
owner (Safeway Stores, Inc.) was not liable rfegligent supervision of a security guard
employed by a contractor (Argenbright Security, Imghp stopped a minofon suspicion of
shoplifting . . .and in the course of searching her, touched her in a sexually improper manner.”
782 A.2d 752, 755 (D.@001)1> Applying the standard articulated @ilesand citing Murphy,

the courtconcluded thatno facts would warrant an é&fence of negligent supervisi@gainst

14The D.C. Court of Appeals affirmed the entry of summary judgment in favdiedfisecause
“[tlhe attendant who fired the fatal shot was not an employee of Shel’ tarsd,there was no
“masterservant relationship.”Giles, 487 A.2d at 613.

15 Brownclarified that “[a]ithoughGilesand other cases discuss negligent supervision in the
context of an employegmployee relationship and frequently use the term ‘employee,’ itas cle
from the Restatement [(Second) of Agency] and other authorities thamnao€laegligent
supervision does not require proof that the supervised person was also an employee.or a
Brown, 782 A.2d at 760 n.11. The Restatement provides in relevant part that the edpervis
person need not be an employee or agent to establish liability under a theory afitneglige
supervision if the defendant was “negligentrexkless . . . in permitting, or faiing to prevent,
negligent or other tortious conduct by persons, . .. upon premises or with ims&iities under
[the defendant’s] control.” Restatement (Second) of Agency § 213(d).
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Safeway.” Id. at 760 (internal quotation marks omittédl).The only evidence linking the
security guard to Safeway was “that a Safeway employee may have been arésetine of
the alleged assault,” which the codescribedas insufficientsincethe employee did not have
supervisory authority ovehé security guard and did not have “gwver to control [the
guard’'s] conduct or the opportunity to alert someone who did have that power in tineeetot pr
the harm.” Id. The court affirmed the entry of summary judgment in favor of Safeway.
Moreover, inPhelan v. City of Mount Rainiest wdow sued the City of Mount
Rainier, in Maryland andits chief of police for negligent hiring, supervisiortraining, and
retention after her msband was shot and kiled by offduty Maryland police officerin
Washington, D.C.805 A.2d 930, 9333 (D.C. 2002). The plaintiff alleged that theolice
officer shot her husband “eleven times without provocadtioldl. at934 n.4. Atsummary
judgment, after the plaintiff withdrew her claimsof negligent hiring and training, theal court
granted summary judgment for the city and police chief on the remaining cl@msppeal, the
D.C. Court of Appeals applied the standardsdésto the claims of negligent retention and
supervisionand citedMurphyandFleming v. BronfiA’for the proposition that an employer may

be found liable for the acts of its employees or agents even if the harraddsuih a wilful act

16 Interestingly, the D.C. Couof Appeals citedBoykin a case applying heightened
foreseeabilty, when addressing plaintifftespondeat superiaiaims, yet did not cit@&oykinor
require specific foreseeability evidence when addressing plaintifigig@st supervision claim.
ConpareBrown, 782 A.2d at 75B8 & n.7 (citing Boykin 484 A.2d at 562)vith id. at 75960
(citing Giles 487 A.2d at 613Murphy, 458 A.2d at 63).

171n Fleming the plaintiff sued a grocery store operator for negligent hiring and superofséon
store deliveryman who sexually assaulted her after delivering grocades@eiving payment.

80 A.2d at 916. The D.C. Court of Appeals held that an employer has a duty teeexerci
reasonable care in hiring employees and not retain an unfit employee taskedterify the
homes of customerdd. at 91617 (“When an employer neglects this duty and as a result injury
is occasioned to a third person, the employer may be liable even though thevegibyought
about by the wilful act of the employee beyond shepe of his employment.”).

29



outside the scope of employmengee idat 937 (citingGiles 487 A.2d at 613Murphy, 458
A.2d at 63;Flemingv. Brorfin,80 A.2d 915, 917 (D.C. 1951)other citation omitted).
However, thePhelancourtaffrmed summary judgmenbecause there were no
facts or circumstances showthat defendants knew or should h&wmewn that the officer
behaved in a dangerousiemcompetent manndhatrendered the shooting foreseeabiige
court noted that, unlikeMurphyandFleming the intervening criminal actiRhelandid not
occuratthe place of employmenandwas not associated in any way with his jdbee idat 938
40. Simply put, despite arguable awarenessoofiedangerous attributes and “substantial
evidence thatie] had many disciplinary problems as a police officer prior to the shooiidgdt
942, the victim was not within the group of foreseeable personssexptma risk of harm
because defendants did not bring the officer into contact with the viGtra.evidence was
“insufficient to establish a duty on the part of the City runningplaintiff’ s] decedent or a
causal nexus between the failure to diswpliandthe police officer’sjnonduty related
confrontation and shooting of the decedent in a jurisdiction where he was an ooitizary”

Id. at 940 (citingDistrict of Columbia v. Colema®67 A.2d 811, 8187 (D.C. 1995)).8

18 A similar result was reached Rawlings v. District of Columbjavhere the parents of a
fourteenyearold boy sued the District of Columbia alleging, in part, that the Metrapolita
Police Department (MPD) was negligent naiting and supervising a police officer who shot
and kiled their allegedly unarmed child in an-dffty confrontation. 820 F. Supp. 2d 92; 98
102 (D.D.C. 2011). Applying the standard articulate&iles, the courfound that defendants
did not bring the police officer into contact with the victim, and also, ttittat the police
officer was involved in two previous effuty shootings was not probative of dangerous or
incompetent behavior because the prior shootingee ystified and in compliance with MPD
policy. Seeidat115. It concluded that plaintiff had “failed to show that any duty of case wa
breached by the District of Columbia ..., much less a caustdnmslap between any supposed
breach and [the boy’s] deathltl. at 116 (citihgPhelan 805 A.2d at 940).
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Finally, in Schechtev. Merchants Home Delivery, In@ customer of an
appliance store sued the store and a delivery company for negligent hiringg,traimil
supervision after a deliveryman committed theft in the customer’s h8e® A.2d 415 (D.C.
2006). The D.C. Courbf Appeals found that evidence that the deliveryradone timehad
entered a guitty plea to fourth degree of burglaih the intention to commit theft from a
dwelling, constituted sufficient evidence to find that the companies owed a duty dabdhee
plaintiff by bringing him into contact with an employee whom the defendants knew or should
have known was likely to commit intentional or reckless miscond8ete idat 43132 (citing
Murphy, 458 A.2d at 64Fleming 80 A.2d at 917; Restatement (Secarfdi\gency § 213 &
cmt. g). The court remanded the case for trial.

HPES and The Experts fail to properly address the standard articula®ddsior
acknowledge the line of peMurphycases applying this standar@hey relyentirely on cases
requirng specific evidence of foreseeahilitgone of which analyzed claims of negligent hiring,
retention, or supervision:[l]n stark contrat to nearly all of the cases cited . . . and relied upon
by the defendant[s],” the allegations in this case suppegldsible existence of “a special
relationship of control between the defendant[s] and the intervening crimia] Romerg 749
F.2d at 81, giving rise to a duty of care and a commensurately less burdeesoireEment that
the plaintiff demonstratéspecific evidence of foreseeabiltyNovak 452 F.3d at 912 (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted) Smith 481 F. Supp. 2d at 195 (alteration omitted).
HPES and The Experts cionly three cases, all of which are inapposite and easily
distinguishable.

Lacy v. District of Columbi# one of the talismanic cases in Dt@t law

concerningthe requirement of heightened foreseeabilityd8 A.2d 985 (D.C. 1979)Lacy I), on
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reh’'g, 424 A.2d 317 (D.C. 198Q)Lacy Il). In Lacy, a mother and daughter sued a school janitor,
principal, teacher, guidance counselor, and the District of Colutolsacover for injuries

sustained after the school janitor sexually assaulted the daugimercase went to trial and, at

the conclusion of the plaintiff's case, the trial judge ordered a ditetedict in favor of the

District of Columbia orthetheory of negligent hiring, training, and supervision of the janitor.
Seedlacy |, 408 A.2d at 990.Thejury returned a verdict againite janior onatheory of assault

and batteryandagainst the school principal, teacher, counselad the District of Columbian

a theorythat they were negligent in their care of the cfild., ordinary negligence) The trial

judge set aside the jury vectlbecause it was “excessive” and “unreasonable” and ordered a new
trial. 1d. at 987.

On retria) anewtrial judge did not allow thenother and daughtdo “present
againto the jury thevery same evidendley had presented at the first trial to prove the District
negligent in its hiring, trainingand supervising of the janitorbecause this theory was directed
out of the caseld. at 990(emphasis in original) Thetrial judge entered judgment agairkée
janitor and in favor ofhe other defendants on tllemainingnegligence claim.The mother and
daughterappealed, among other things, the order granting the new trial andrigethat
evidence on the clagnof negligent hiring, training, and supe&ign could not be premted to
the jury on retrial. Thegid not “assert [that the first trial judge’s] ruling on the sufficierdy
the evidence they presented was errdd.”at 990 n.4. The D.C. Court of Appeals affirnmizuth
rulings, but reversedie secondrial judge on a separate issue involving a jury instruction on
foreseeability and proximate caugenapetition for rehearing, the D.C. Court of Appeals
readopted its “previous opinion in all respects except for the finding of pi@judica™”

concerning the jury instruction and affirmed the entry of judgment in favor of igtecDof
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Columbia and the school officials (other than the janitdrqwcy I, 4224 A.2d at 318.HPES and
The Expertgely onLacy Il for the proposition that a regeiment of heightened foreseeability
applies toPlaintiffs’ claims of negligent hiring, retention, and supervisittowever,it is clear
thatLacy Il did not involve such claims.

The second case relied upon by HPES and The ExpdBtsylsin v. District of
Columbiag 484 A.2d 560 (D.C. 1984). that casea blird, deaf, and mute student sued the
coordinator of a program for blind and deaf studamd the District of Columbia to recover for
injuries sustained after the coordinator sexuadgaultedher. See idat 561. The student
alleged that th®istrict was negligent in hiring and supervising the coordinatee id.
However, she presented awidence to support her claims aswthe trial judge granted the
District's motion for summary judgment. nGppeal, the D.C. Court of Appeals noted that “the
trial court was entitled to assume that [the student] admitted thereoneaddence the District
knew or should have known that [the coordinator] posed a danger to students greater than that
posed by angther teacher.d. (citing Super. C. Civ. R. 12(k)).1® The student did not assert
“that she had shown in the trial court that there was reason to think thab¢tiogator] might
have been dangerousld. at 56465. In essence, the court held tthetre was n@videnceof an
awareness that the coordinator behaved in a dangerous manner thatacris&tef harm to the
student which comports withthe applicable standard in negligent hiring and supervision cases.

The student’s only theory agairtbie District was that “it was negligent . . . to have permitted

191n 1984, Superior Court Rule of Civi ProcedurellR) required a namoving party to file a
statement of genuine issues of material fact in support of its oppositiomdtioa for summary
judgment. SeeAnthony R. Pileggi,An Attorney’s Guide to Courthouse Practice and Procedure:
Civil Division District of Columbia Superior Cout©983 32 Cath. U. L. Rev. 1063, 1113 (1983).
By citing Rule 121(k), the court made clear that the District wattled to judgment as a matter
of law because plaintiff failed to support her claims of negligent hitiagping, or supervision,

or show there was a genuine issue of material fact warranting trial.
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such oneon-one contacts” between teachers and studddtsat 565. Herallegation was not
specific to the hiring and supervision of tffending coordinatgrbut resembled thgeneral
nedigence claim inLacy. Boykinsupports the proposition that claims of negligent hiring,
retention, and supervision are treated differently.

The last case relied upon by HPES and The Expettis Court’s decision in
Jonesv. R.l. Associates, L. 021820 (RMC), 2005 WL 147536MD(D.C.June 22, @05).

In Jonesan officer of the D.C. Metropolitan Police Departmgniled over a womafor

speeding and then drove her to the hotel where he workeliitgffas a security guard and raped
her in an unused conference room. Visém sued the hotel ownerSee idat *1. This Court
entered summary judgment in favor of the hotel owner bedhegs#aintiff could notprove
heightenedforeseeability. See id.Jonedid not involve claims of negligent hiring, retention, or
supervision. Instead, thictim sued the hotel owner on a theory of “premises liability, which is
a ‘[a] landowner’s or ladholder’s tort liability for conditions or activities on the premisedd”

at *3 (citing Black’s Law Dictionary (8thed. 2004));see also idat *4 (noting plaintiff “argue[d]
that the owner of the Hotel is liable to her because of its alleged negligieie to its failure to
prevent its premises from being used for the commission of a crime ttedagainst [her] . . .
M.

Thus Lacy, Boykin andJonesare inapplicable to Plaintiffs’ allegations because
none of those caséwolved claims of neglignt hiing, retention, and supervisionAt the risk of
repetition and in the interest of clarith,.C. case lavindicates that @ employer owes a duty of
care to those brought into contact with a third person subject to the defe roaentrtts or
superviion whenthe defendant lew or shouldhave know that the third persowaslikely to

commit intentional or reckless miscondu@ee Giles487 A.2d at 613 (“[l]t is incumbent upon
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a party to show that an employer knew or should have known its employaeetea a
dangerous or otherwise incompetent manner, and that the employer, armtgindttual or
constructive knowledge failed to adedgly supervise the employee.”ln addition, the ensuing
harm must be foreseeable in light of the quality or conduct of the employee ‘thbiemployer
had reason to suppose would be likely to cause harm.” Restatement (Second) pf8A2E3ic
see also Argonne Houg® F.2d 605.

Having resolved this major point of contentioegarding the applicable standard
to Plaintiffs’ claims of negligent hiring, retention, and supervision, thertGyil examine
Plaintiffs’ allegations

il. Plaintifts’ Claims of Negligent Hiring

Claim #1: HPES and The Experts negligently hired Mr. Alexis

All Plaintiffs allege thaHPESand The Experts were negligent in hiring Mr.
Alexis as a computer technician assigned to work under the-Marigie Corps Intranet
Continuity of Service Contractt is well established thafaln employer cannot be liable for
negligent hiring if the empyer conducts a reasonalihvestigation into the person’s
background or if such an investigation would not have revealed any reason not to hire that
person.” Search v. Uber Techs., Ing&28 F. Supp. 3d 222, 230 (D.D.C. 201§yoting Doe v.
Exxon MobilCorp., 573 F. Supp. 2d 16, 28 (D.D.C. 2008)). Consequently, tb state a claim
for negligent hiring, a plaintiff must allege specific facts from Wwham inference can be drawn
that the employer did not conduct a reasonable background investigatiothatesuch an
investigation would have uncovered a reason not to hire the alleged tortfddsdrlaintiffs do

neither.
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Plaintiffs allege thaHPES and The Experts knew or should have knofe
proclivity towards violenceand ahistory of dangerousetnavior by Mr. Alexis prior to
SeptembeR012 {.e.,when he was first hired by The Expert$jowever, the Complaints do not
allege factgo supportsuch aclaim. The onlyrelevantallegations are conclusory and
insufficient to satisfyTwombly Plaintiffs allege that Mr. Alexis had a history of arrests (without
convictions) while he wasn the Navy——specifically between June 2004 and September 2010
——where heallegedly exhibited a proclivity towards violence.

The Complaints directly conadict theconclusory statemetitat HPES and The
Expertsknewabout Mr. Alexis’s violent history. Plaintiffs allege throughout thestadings that
the criminal convictions cheak motor vehicle driving record cheand the drug screening test,
requiredby HPES and conducted by The Extpean two separate occasions, in September 2012
and July 2013failed to reveal Mr. Alexis’s arrest recavdrelatedviolent conduct. See, e.qg.
Delorenzo Compl.  13; Proctor Compl. 1 24, 26; Kohler Compl. 1 32; Ridgeipl. T 30;
ZagamiCompl. I 32; Jacobs Compl. 2. Similarly, the Navy Reporelied upon by Plaintiffs
and cited, in many instancesrbatimin their Complaints reinforcesthe allegations that Mr.
Alexis was subject to “premployment suitability checks . .. which involved a drug test, a motor
vehicle driving record check, and criminal convictions check?ES MID, Case No. 12216,

Ex. A.[Dkt. 120-2] (JAGMAN Report) at 3-32.20 As Plaintiffs allege Mr. Alexis had no
convictions and waseverprosecuted.The two “pre-employment suitabilty checkséquired

by HPES would never havevea¢d arrests d¥r. Alexis’s supposed violent backgroundhe

20 As did The Experts, HPES filed an omnibus motiordismiss and an omnibus reply brief in
all nine cases. For purposes of clarity, the Court will only use the dagkdters of the
Delorenzo case when citing its briefs. Nonetheless, both documents ricaydbén each of the
other cases.

36



Complaints internally contradict any allegations that might have suppogadnference of actual
knowledge. The Court cannot “acceptinferences that are unsupported by the factsiseheut
complaint.” Arpaio v. Obama797 F.3d 11, 19 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (internal citation guodtation
marks omitted).

Plaintiffs’ assertiorthat HPES and The Expersould have knowabout Mr.
Alexis’s prior arrests ansupposedroclivity towards violence igven moreconclusoryand
without factual supportPlaintiffs baldly allege that #apre-employment checks were
“insufficient” because they “failed to uncover [Mr. Alexis’s] prior estrecord .. ..” Proctor
Compl. 1 27; see alsdohler Conpl. § 32 Ridgell Compl. § 30ZagamiCompl. § 32;Jacobs
Compl. T 42alleging that HPES and The Experts should have known because “arrests in [Mr.
Alexis’s] background . .were a matter of public record’However Plaintiffs do not, and
cannot allegethat HPES and The Experts were legally requiredfébgral or lochstatute,
contract or otherwise) to conduct criminalrrestchecksfor the position of computer technician
In fact,such arequirementwould likely suffer from significant constitutional infirmitiesnd
violate D.C. law. See infraat 3 & n.2L.

“[C]harges resulting in acquittal clearly have no legitimate significance” aand “
collection of dismissed, abandoned, or withdrawn arrest records are nohatorgutter rumors
when measured against any standards of constitutional fairness to an ihdividuaUtz v.
Cullinane 520 F.2d 467, 479 (D.C. Cir. 1975) (quotbgited States v. Doole$64 F. Supp.

75, 77 (E.D. Pa. 1978) The “dissemination of arrest records in a situation in which it is known
they wil be utilized for employment and licensipgirposes” would impose “considerable

barriers,”id. at 47980, andlikely undermine an individual<ue process rightshe sacrosanct
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presumption of innocencas well agmpair the constitutional right of privacysee idat 482 n.
41.

Moreover,“information concerning a prospective employee’s record of arrests
without convictions,is irrelevant to his suitability or qualification for employménid. at 482
(quoting Gregory v. Litton Systems, In816 F. Supp. 401, 403 (C.D. Cal. 197@)dified on
other grounds and aff'd as modifiet¥2 F.2d 631 (9tiCir. 1972)) (emphasis addedhn
addition, at the time of Mr. Alexis’s hiring, the Duncan Ordinanegulaedthe dissemination of
arrestrecords in the District of [Dmbia andprohibited accesso any preconviction or post
exoneration arrest informatiofor employment purposes. The Ordinance provitkecklevant
part “that it shall be an offense punishable by a fine not to exceed $50.00, for amytpers
require as a condition of employmeiie tproduction of any arrest record or copy, extract or
statement thereof at the expense of any employee or applicant for employment teughom
record may relaté.ld. at 48586 (noting that “[a]ithough Duncan Ordinance [was] not officially
reported, itfwas] reproduced as an AppendiX tdorrow v. District of Columbigd17 F.2d 728,
74546 n.9 (D.C. Cir1969))2t

In conclusion, ay inferencethat HPES and The Experts knew or should have

known of Mr. Alexis’s arrest record andangerous behavior prior )12 isunsupported and

21 The Duncan Ordinance was adopted by the D.C. Board of Commissioners on October 31,
1967. The Ordinance was subsequently amended [RetBmtry Faciltation Amendment Act

of 2012, effective June 15, 2013 (D.C. Law3l®; 60 DC. Reg.2333 (March 1, 2013)and the
PostArrest Process Clarification Amendment Act of 2014, effectivel Ag 2015 (D.C. Law
20-243; 61D.C. Reg.8320 (August 15, 2014))In addition, in 2014, the D.C. Legislature

enacted the Fair Criminal Record Screening Act of 2014, effective Decémh2014 (D.C.

Law 20152; 61 D.C. Reg. 8904 (August 21, 2014)) reiterating that “an employer may not make
an inquiry about or requiran application to disclose or reveal an arrest or a criminal accusation
made against the applicant, which is not pending against the applicant or diduthan r@s
conviction.” D.C. Code § 32342 (a) (alterations omitted).
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contradicted byPlaintiffs’ own allegations. See Arpaip797 F.3d at 19According to the
Complaints and the Navy Report, The Experts hired Mr. Alexis knowing thgtlhbad no
criminal convictions and that he passeddhggtestand the motor vehicle driving record check
required by HPES; (2) was honorably discharged from the Navy in January 2011; lzadi &B)
active &cretlevel security clearancsith a favorable reenlistment codeNo jury could find

from these facts &t HPES or The Experts failed to exeraisasonable care in hiring Mr.
Alexis. SeeBoykin 484 A.2d at 564¢f. Schechte892 A.2d at 43B2; Fleming 80 A.2d at
91617.

The assertion that HPES and The Experts “had actual and/or constructive
knowledge 6[Mr.] Alexis’s propensity for gun violen€ehas no factual supportdialmon
Daniels Comp]. Case No. 18501 [Dkt. 1]1 95. Plaintiffs contend that they should be allowed
discovery tdearnprecisely what HPES and The Experts knew about Mr. Alexisedintie of
his hiring. Theyseem taarguett is “unreasonable to expect the Complaint to offer a more
detailed factual foundation for Plainf#f] negligenthiring claim?” Search128 F. Supp. 3dt
230 To the contrary, the Court adopts the analysianother member of this Court in similar
circumstances:

This apparent CateB2 is the reason that “detailed factual

alegations are not necessary to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion,”

but it does not excuse a Plaintiff'failure to “put forth factual

content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that

the defendant is liable for the misconduct alegelénley v.

District of Columbia,83 F. Supp. 3d 2(0D.D.C. 2015) (internal

guotation marks and citations omitted). Were that not the case, a

plaintiff might merely invoke the magic words e.g.,“negligent

hiring,” “constructive knowledge,” and the like— and thereby

subject a defendant to costly and potentially meritless litigation.

Id. at230-31L Plaintiffs’ allegatbons that HPES and Thexperts knew, or should have known,

are conclusory and insufficient to satidiywomblys pleading threshold.Seéwillett v. United
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States24 F. Supp. 3d 1167, 1180 (M.D. Ala. 201gge also StevensSodexo, In¢846 F.
Supp. 2d 119, 128 (D.D.C. 201@Jismissing claims of “negligent hiring, supervision, and
retention” because “bare, conclusagsertions, in the form of unenlightening legpéak, that
Sodexo ‘knew or should have known’ are insufficient to survive Sodexo’s Motion to Bismis
Accordngly, Plaintiffs’ claims that HPES and The Experts were negligehirimg Mr. Alexis
will be dismissed.
Claim #2: HPES negligently hired The Experts

Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgel, Zagamand Jacobs assérttheir Complaintsthat
HPESnegligently hiredThe Experts androximately caused their injuriesSeeKohler Compl.
198991, Ridgell Compl. {1 889; Zagami Complf 8991; Jacobs Compl. 71991. At oral
argument, counsel for HPESnceded that it did netddresghis claimin its motion to disngis
SeeB/16/2016 Hr'g Tr. at 13:244:8 (“Well, Your Honor, | didn’'t read the complaints as
making an argument that HP was responsible for anything that The Experts did'todaland
sort of a vicarious liability theory.2¥ Although Plaintiffs Kohler Ridgell, Zagami, and Jacobs
clearly assertthis clainm their Complaints and HPES did not move to dismisthé claims are
devoid of factual allegations thabuld support an inference tHdPES negligentlyhired The
Experts.

Plaintiffs needed ttallege specific facts from which an inference can be drawn
that[HPES]did not conduct a reasonable background investigdtbiihe Experts]and that
such an investigation would have uncovered a reason not I heeExperts] Search128 F.

Supp. 3dat 230. Howeverthere are no allegationsoncerningthe investigation andhiring of

22 HPES may have misunderstood the nature of this claim. Plaintiffs Kétitigel, Zagami,
and Jacobs assert a dirdability theory of negligat hiring of a subcontractor, as opposed to a
claim of negligence based on the vicarious liability doctaheespondeat superior
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The Expertsor any history of incompetent behavior by The Experts, let aonyeindication that
The Expertsvas selectedotwithstanding aactual or constructive awaress ofits lack of skill,
experience, or equipmenSeeRestatement (Second) of Torts § 411 & cmt. a antdithe
contrary, the Complaintfocus on Mr. Alexis’s relationship with The Expengich isirrelevant
to the assertiorthat HPESactednegligertly when it entered into a contract with TEgperts to
provide services under the NaMarine Corps Intranet Continuity of Service Contract.
Accordingly, ttese allegationswil also be dismissedSeeBaker v. Dir., U.S. Parole Comm
916 F.2d 725, 72¢{D.C. Cir. 1990)(“Because it is patently obvious thHplaintiff] could not
have prevailed on the facts alleged in his complaint, we findstr@mspontelismissal was
appropriate’)
iil. Plaintiffs’ Claims of Negligent Retention and Supervision
Claim #1: HPES and The Experts negligently retained and supervised Mr. Alexis
To state a claim for negligent retention and supervision, Plaintiffs atiege
sufficient factsto advanceplausible inferencethat HPES and The Experts “knew or should
have known’that Mr. Alexis “behaved in a dangerous or otherwise incompetent mMgmiager
to the Navy Yard shooting, and that HPES and The Expentsietd with that actual or
constructive knowledge failed to adequately superige Alexis. Giles, 487 A.2dat 613
(citing Murphy, 458 A.2d at 64 According to this theory of negligen@nd the allegations in
the Complaints HPES and The Experts hadiuty to exercise reasonaldare to controMr.
Alexis “while acting outside the scope of his employment as to préirarrom intentionally
harming others or from so conducting himself as to create an unreasonabfebadlly harm to
them” because(1) Mr. Alexis was brought into contact with the victims of the shooting through

his employment (in other words, he wpsvieged to entérthe premises due to his status as a
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computer technician assigned to work at the Navy Yard;(2) HPES and The Experts had the
“abilty to control” Mr. Alexis which, given Mr. Alexis’s prior behavior, they knew or should
have known‘of the necessity and opportunity for exercising such control.” Restatement
(Second) of Torts 817 and Restatement (First) of Agency § 302, cmse®also, e.g,Int’l

Distrib. Corp., 569 F.2d al39; Schechter892 A.2d 415Phelan 805 A.2d at 93810; Fleming

80 A.2d at 917.

HPES and The Experts do not contest the sufficiency of Plaintiffs’ adiagat
with respect to Mr. Alexis’s authorization to enter the Navy Yard distemployment or their
abilty to control and supervisklr. Alexis. They also do not contest Plaintiffs’ allegations
concerning the inadequacy of their actions in faiing to prevent the sho®iather HPES and
The Expertdocus on the sufficiency of trelegations concerning what HPBS8d The Experts
knew or should have known about Mr. Alexis prior to the shootifige relevant questioat a
motion to dismisss whether the actual or constructive knowledge of HPES and The Esperts
sufficiently supported to make plausibdeduty toexercise reasonablaie inretaining and
supervisingMr. Alexis.

Plaintiffs’ allegations on this issue could be divided into ta&tegories (1) Mr.
Alexis’s arrestrecord and supposed violent behavior whilvasn the Navy June 2004
September 2010and (2) Mr. Alexs’s allegedviolent behaviorwhile he was a subcontractor
(September 2013eptember 2013). With respect to the first category, the Court hadyalre
found thatthe Complaintsdid notprovide any actual basis to inférat HPES and The Experts
knew orshoud have known of Mr. Alexis’grior arrest record and suppospibclivity towards
violence at the time of his hiring.See suprat 3-40. Similarly, the Complaints do ngirovide

any factual basis to infer actual or constructive knowledgelroflexis’s arrest recorar
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allegedpre-employmenthistory of violence acquiredy HPES or The Expertfterhis hiring in
September 20128

At oral argument, counsel for Mr. Proctor suggested that because ‘“[t]asranv
[alleged] August 9th, 2013 discussion with. Alexis’s mother,” in which she said that Mr.
Alexis “had prior incidents of being parandidHPES and The Experts knew or should have
known ofMr. Alexis’s arrestrecord and proclivity towards violenc&16/2016 Hr'g Tr. at
50:1217; see alsd’roctorCompl. T 62 (“*On August 9, 2013, The Experts HR director called
[Mr.] Alexis’s mother who said that [Mr.] Alexis had been paranoid asdwlds not the fits
episode he had experiencedKphler Compl. 1 52; Ridgell Compl. I 50; Zagami Compl. { 52;
Jacols Compl. 1 634 The allegation falls shortlt supports the limited inference that The
Experts became aware in August 2013 that Mr. Alexis suffered from alnlleess. The vague
allegation that Mr. Alexis “had been paranoid” in the pats to support an inference attual
or constructive awareness of Mr. Alexis’s arrestrecord and supposed witildmites. Simply
put, any attempt to equate mental ilness with violence must fade White v. Mansfield

Richland No. 12CA-115 and 1ZA-116, 203 WL 3936036, at*1, 8 (Ohio Ct. App. July 18,

23 The Court notes that some Plaintiffs use the term “criminal historygfer to Mr. Alexis’s
arrestrecord and pi2012 actions although he was not prosecuted for any offense, let alone
convicted of a crime. ‘fiere is no rational basis to presume gaiid active criminalty from the
mere fact of an arrésand “[flew things are as fundamental to our legal system as the
presumption of innocence until overcome by proof of guit beyond amahble doubt at a fair
trial.” Davis v. Paul505 F.2d 1180, 1184 (6th Cir. 1974@yv’d on other grounds424 U.S. 693
(1976) see alsdMenard v. Mitchell328 F. Supp. 718, 724 (D.D.C. 19{1)Ynder our system of
criminal ustice, only a conviction carries Egsignificance as to a persorrsolvement in
criminal kehavior.”)

24 There are no allegations that HPES was or should have been aware of thisationvers
between Mr. Alexis’s mother and the HR Director for The Experts.
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2013) (stating that while defendamhay have been aware of his 'somental ilness, . .
suffering from a mental ilness does not automaticaly equate violdwavioe”). 25

Perhaps aware difie fraity of their pre2012 allegations, Plaintiffs shifted their
focus at oral argument to the events of August 2@&8e8/16/2016 Hr'g Tr. at 497-19
(counsel forPlaintiff Proctoragreeing with Court that pr2012 allegations “are not necessary to
a well pled complaint?) see also idat68:1417 (counsel foPlaintiffs Kohler, Ridgell, Zagami,
and Jacobagreeing with Court that pr2012 allegations “are of tangential relevance” and that
“[w]lhat’s really key here is August of 2013 and the eventhalf month leading up to the day of
the shooting”). With respect to the second category of alegations, the Comgésatsbe in
detail the bizarre behavior of Mr. Alexis during his assignmetihdd\Naval Undersea Warfare
Center in Newport, Rhode Isid onAugust 47, 2013. Onemay conclude from tree
allegations (e.g, complaining of hearing voices, being followed, and being tormented by
electronic lowfrequency wavedpat Mr. Alexis suffered from a mental ilness that time
However, theallegatons do notlead toan inference ofuture violent behavior. To conclude
otherwise wouldcontribute to theperpetuation of thé&alse notionthat mentallill individuals
are predisposed or likely to be violent, a stereotype that would create aibldestentives in

the employment contexf.

25 Counsel for Plaintiff Proctor indicated at oral argument that thigaditn “is a pefiect
example for why discovery should be allowed to proceed in this case.” 8/16/2016rHatg T
50:1920. However, discovery would be nothing more than a speculative fishing expedition.

26|f it were true that exhibiting symptoms of psychosis isisgafit to put an employer on actual
or constructive notice of an employee’s future violent behavior, many emploggr&€en
reluctant to hire individuals with some kind of mental ilness or disordeolation of the
American with Disabilties Act, 42 3.C. § 12101get seq.
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Indeed, lhe D.C. Circuit stated iflicks v. United Statabat “[g]eneralizations
must be avoided as much as possible in the area of psychiatry” and, ttlasn aof negligence
must be considered in light of the elusive qualties of mental disorderseadificulty of
analyzing and evaluating them311 F.2d 407, 415 (D.C. Cir. 1975)uch generalizations were
not always “avoided” in Plaintiffs’ briefs and pleadingSeeMcCullough Opp’n Case No. 15
1639 [Dkt. 21] at 16 $tating thatthere is a consistent profile for the active shootbese
people aecrazy— not merely angry, disgruntled or neurotie crazy; ilt is the sine qua non
for the active shooter— crazy’) (emphasis added)The Courtconcludesthatawareness of Mr.
Alexis’s episode of mental ilness did not automatically impose a dutyrefaeHPES and The
Experts.

Nonetheless, there are allegations that, combined witythptoms of mental
ilness exhibited byr. Alexis during August 4, 2013, barely push Plaintiffs’ claims of
negligent retention and supervisiawerthe plausibilty threshold ofwombly For example,
Plaintiffs allege that:(1) on August 4, 2013, the project coordinator for The Experts had to calm
down an angry Mr. Alexis over the phone gedsuade him to get away from a male seated
across the aislfrom him at the Norfolk Airport; (2) on August 6, 2018e travel coordinator for
The Experts contacted the desk clerk atthe Navy Gateway Inns & Suites arssecrer
concern that Mr. Alexis could harm someone; (3) the hotel's desk clerk cahtaeiNaval
Station Newport Police to request that a police officer be assignedteitieehotel in case Mr.
Alexis attempted to hurt someone; and (4) on August 7, 2013, the Newport Police-iD{fice

Charge contacted the Naval Station Police Sergeantatptled information concerning Mr.
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Alexis and fax him a copy of a police report with a note saying, “FYI on thist thought to
pass it on to you in the event this person escal&tes.”

These allegations, in combination with Mr. Alexis’s behavior at thefdik
Airport and in Rhode Islandiould support amference that HPES and The Experts were on
actual or constructive notice that Mr. Alexis behaved ‘idaangerousor otherwise incompetent
mannet and that hemight harm others or create an unreasonaible of bodily harm to others.
Giles 487 A.2d at 613see alsd-leming 80 A.2d at 917 (citindgRestatement (First) of Torts 8§
302, cmt. n)Restatement (Second) Dorts 8317 and 8§ 319. Based on the allegations in the
Complaints, the Court cannot sdmat a jury might not find thatdPES and The Experts had a
duty to properly supervise or control Mr. Alexishich they might have breached by failing to
provide adequatsupervisionwhen authorizing Mr. Alexis to enter the Navy Y&PdSee Int'l
Distrib. Corp., 569 F.2d at 139 (stating that “an employer has a duty to supervise those of its
employees who are privieged because of their employment to enter anothen's/f);opé
Phelan 805 A.2d at 93810.

Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claims of negligent retention and supervision shall
proceed to discovery so thhe parties will havemore detailed factual foundation for their
claims and their allegations of foreseeabhilitypon further detail about the neguof the risk of
harm to othersgveryonewill be in a better position to “balanc[e] the magnitude of the risk

against the utiity of [Defendants’] conduct” by taking into accdabetnecessaractors, such as

27 Neither HPES nor The Experts contest the sufficiency of the allegatiohgesjiect to what
they knew or should have known about the series of events in August 2013.

28HPES and The Experts generally focused on the interplay between duty and fuitysaed
did not challenge the sufficiency of Plaintiffs’ allegations with respethe adequacy of
supervision i(e., breach of the duty of care).
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“the known character, past conduct, and tendencies of the person whose inteoticlhgl c
causes the harm, . .. the gravity of the harm that may result,nd] tfie burden of the
precautions which the [Defendants] would be required to taBenith 481 F. Supp. 2d at 190
(quoting Doe, 524 A.2l at 34 n.3; Restatement (Second) of Torts § 302B, cmt.hg. motions
to dismissthese claims wil be denied.

Claim #2: HPES negligently retained and supervised The Experts

Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgel, Zagami, and Jacobs assertin their @antgplthat
HPES negligently retained and supervised The Exp&gsKohler Compl. 1 891; Ridgell
Compl. 9 8789; Zagami Complf[{ 8991; Jacobs Compl. 11991. At oral argument,
counsel for HPES conceded that it did adtresshis claim in its motion to dismissSee
8/16/2016 Hr'g Tr. at 13:244:8. SinceHPES did not move to dismiss this claim &Halintiffs
have alleged sufficient facts state a clainthatThe Expertsaactedhegligently with respect to
Mr. Alexis, the Court will allowthis additional claim against HPES proceed to discovery.

V. Plaintifs’ Remaining Claims of Common Law Negligence

In addition to the theories of negligent hiringtention or supervision,Plaintiffs
have asserted other claims of negligence against HPES and éwsExsing different labels to
describe lteir claims suchas*negligent undertaking,*negligence,” “negligent credentialing,”

“gross negligence,"reckless disregard,and“failure to wart’2® Some Plaintiffshave also used

29 SeeDelorenzo Comlp Counts | and Il (including “failure to warn” claim against HPES and
The Experts); Frasier Compl. Counts | and Il (including “negligence” andréato warn”
claims against HPES and The Experts); Proctor Compl. Counts V and ¥in(alielaims of
“negigence” under NISPOM and “other applicable law” against HPES and Thet&xper
HalmonDaniels Compl. Counts Il and IV (alleging “failure to warn” claingaiast HPES and
Experts); Kohler/RidgellZagami/Jacobs Compls. Counts I, Ill, V, ah(hléging clams of
“negligent undertaking” and “negligence” against HPES and The Experts); andiddgGul
Compl. Counts | and Il (alleging claims of “negligence,” “gross negligériaiure to warn,”
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the terns “survival action” and “wrongful death action” as separate claims agdiR&S and
The Experts® These claims wil be dismissedak discussed below

Many of these claimsely ondifferent labed to reiterate the theories of negligent
hiring, retention, and supervisiorit is well established that “[a]s a matter of judicial economy,”
courts ‘may dismiss duplicative claims ftheir] discretion? DTCC Data Repository (U.S.) LLC
v.U.S.Commodity Futtes Trading Commi, 25 F. Supp. 3d 9, 18 (D.D.C. 2014)citing
Wultz v. Islamic Republic of Iraf%5 F.Supp.2d 1, 81 (D.D.C. 2010)). “Claimare duplicative
when they stem from identical allegations, that are decided under identical stegadards, and
for which identical relief is availablg. 1d. (quoting Wultz 755 F. Supp. 2d at81). Such is the
case here. Plaintiffs remaining negligence claims stem from thefaaraegations and rely
on the same theory of liability—specificdy, thatdespite an actual or constructive awareness
that Mr. Alexis could harm otherBlPES and The Expertsred and retained Mr. Alexis and
authorized him to enter the Navy Yard while failibg take adequatmeasures to prevent the
ensuing harnon September 16, 2013

Negligent Undertaking, Negligence, and Negligent Credentialing

Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgel, Zagami, and Jacassert a “negligent undertaking”

claim against The Experts one basis that “[b]y hiring Mr. Alexis . .. The Experts undetom

“reckless disregard,” “negligent credentialing,” and “negligeatfggmance of duties” against
HPES and The Experts).

30 SeeHalmonDaniels Compl. Counts V and VI; Kohler/Zagami Compls. Counts 1X and X; and
Ridgell Compl. Counts VIl and IX. To clarify, a claim of wrongful deand/or survival does

not constitute an independent theory of liability against Defendants. Ingtegdgefer to the
statutory right of action under D.C. law and the nature of recoverable dafoagach theory of
liability. While a “wrongful death action is to recover damages to benagiaesulting from
decedent’s death,” a survival action is “to recover damages the decederntanmuickcovered

but for his death.”Azzopardiv. Ocean Drilling & Exploration C@42 F.2d 890, 893 (5th Cir.
1984).

48



control Mr. Alexis, whom The Experts knew was likely to cause harmher®in and around his
workplace” and that The Expettseached this duty by faiing to conduct an adequate
investigation ofMr. Alexis prior to his hiring andafter the eventsfddugust 2013, faiing to take
adequate supervisoryeasuresandfailing to prevent Mr. Alexis from having access to the Navy
Yard. Kohler Compl. 11 7377; Ridgell Compl. 1 #Z5; Zagami Compl. 1 7387; Jacobs
Compl. 19 887. These Plaintiffs also asd the same claimith identical allegationsagainst
HPES visa-vis its allegedcontrol over The Experts and Mr. AlexiSeeCount V in Complaints
of Kohler, Ridgel, Zagamiand Jacobs.

Similarly, Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgell, Zagami, and Jacobs asdernhs of
“negligence” against The Experts on the basis that:

The Experts, as the employer of Mr. Alexis and because it knew that

he was lkely to cause harm to others in and around his workplace .

.. owed persons working atthe Washington Navy Yard . . . [a] duty

to exercise reasonable care in supervising and dfiogir Mr.

Alexis, including but not limited to controlinghis access to the

Washington Navy Yard and his return to employment, so as to

prevent him from intentionally harming others and to prevent him

from conducting himself so as to create an unreasonagk of

bodily harm to others.
Kohler Compl. 1 79; Ridgell Compl. Y7, Zagami Compl. §9, Jacobs Compl. §9. These
Plaintiffs allege that The Experts breached its duty to control and sepéfuisAlexis by failing
to “create, develop, or implememn adequate risk assessment or mitigation plan with respectto
employees who posed a risk of workplace violence, failing to [require or] ad§qoanduct a

psychological fitness examination, .. . faiing to revoke Mr. Alex@&Esurity clearance, [ahd

faiing to bar Mr. Alexis from access to the Washington Navy Yard,” among tthgs3?

31 Under this “negligence claim,” Plaifif Kohler, Ridgel, Zagami, and Jacobs include a
“failure to warn” or “report” claim against both HPES and The Experna;twis discussed
separately below.
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Kohler Compl. 183, Ridgell Compl. 181, Zagami Compl. 83, Jacobs Compl.f 93. In other
words, their Complaints alleginat HPES and The Expeffsied to takeadequate supervisory
measures to prevent the shootinghe same clainof “negligence” with identical allegations is
made against HPEBS light of its allegedduty to control and supervise The Experts and Mr.
Alexis. SeeKohler/RidgellZagami/Jacobs CoraplCount VI. Plaintiff McCullough asseid a
similar, if not identical,claim of “negligence” against HPES and The ExperSeevicCullough
Compl. Count 1.

Plaintiff McCullough alsoassera claim of “negligent credentialing” against
HPES and The Experta/hich is not recognized in the District of Columbia and is not applicable
to the facts of this caseCf. Benjamin J. VerniaTort Claim for Negligent Credentialing of
Physician98 A.L.R.5th 533 (2002)discussing the tort of “negligent credentialing” as one
recognized in other jurisdictions in the medical malpractice contexttehding privieges to
physicians)z?

Ultimately, these claimsf “negligent undertaking,” “negligence,” and “negligent
credentialing,” stem fromidentical allegatio;m and rel on the samanderlying theory of liability
as the Plaintiffs’claims of negligent hiring, retention, and supervisiddommon to all of these
theories is the proposition thAPES and The Experts had a duty to exercise reasonable care in
hiring and retaiing a competent employee, as vaslcontroling and supervising an employee’s
actions, andby failing to take adequate supervisory, precautiomagasures, they breached that

duty and proximately caused Plaintiffs’ injurie€learly, the claims are diipative.

32 |n addition, Plaintiff McCullough abandoned the claim by failing to oppose the anguloye
The Experts that there is no “negligent credentialing” claim in thei@isifr Columbia. See
Hopkins v. Women’s Div., Gen. Bd. of Global Ministrigg! F. Supp. 2d 15, 25 (D.D.C. 2003),
aff'd, 98 Fed. App’x. 8 (D.C. Cir. 2004).
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Notably, Plaintiffs did notaddress theselaims in their opposition briefs or at oral
argument In fact,althoughHPES and The Experts moved to dismiss all claims rooted in
common law negligence, Plaintiffs ordiscussedhe companiesallegedduty of care in hiring,
retaining, and supervising Mr. Alexis, as well as the duty to warn o#tiengt theallegedrisk of
harm posed by Mr. Alexis. Perhaps realizing thait ttlaims were duplicative, Plaintiffshose
to abandomany of thenby failing to arguethem as distinct theories of liabilitySeeHopking
284 F. Supp. 2d at 25 (“It is well understood in this Circuit that when a plefigsf an
opposition to a dispositive motion and addresses only certain arguments raisediei@dant,
a court may treat those arguments that the plaintiff failed to adasassnceded.”) (citations
omitted). The claims will be dismissed as duplicative or, in the alternadisesonceded.

Failure to Warn as Common Law Negligence

Despiteusing different labes, Plaintiffs allege that HPES and The Expdrasia
duty of are to warn invitees to the Navy Yard and the Nawi) about the risk of harm posed
by Mr. Alexis. Plaintiffs contend that HPES and The Experts breached thatodwtgrnand
praximately caused their injuries. This theory of liability correspondshtordinary negligence
claim, which is why most Plaintiffs includeil under their “negligence” countsSeeDelorenzo
Compl. Counts I and Il; Frasier CompCounts | and {IProctorCompl Counts V and Vi
Kohler/RidgellZagami/Jacobs CompiSounts Ill and Vj and McCulough ComplCount I.
Moreover, the duty to warn may arisgt) at common lavandbr (2) pursuant to a contractual or
statutory obligation (more on this category later).

As discussed above, Plaintiffs’ position atthis stage has beehdmatiaims of
negligent hiring,retention, and supervision are fundamentally different andtoequire

specific foreseeabilty evidencén soarguing, they failed to discuss or identify the applicable
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standard foa negligence claim based a faiueto-warn theory at common lawinsteadof
addressing the common law thedPjaintiffs chose to focus exclusivelgn an alleged
contractuabndbr statutory obligation to warnthe NaRgD. As a result, Plaintiffs have
abandonedhis common law theorySeeHopking 284 F. Supp. 2d at 25.

A negligenceclaim for failure to prevent a criminal agthich does not rely on a
duty to control or superviseequiresspecific evidence of foreseeabilityseeBoykin 484 A.2d
at 561-65; Lacy424 A.2d at 33-24. There is no authority for the proposition that there is a duty
to warn a third party with whom there is no special relationship, espenidiie context of an
invitee to someone else’s propefdy. Absent a dty of protection, which is the focus of the
failure to warn claimthe events of August-4, 2013cannotsupport ag inference thathis
criminal act at the Navy Yard was foreseealdggmund, 475 F. Supp. 2dt42 (“While a
plaintiff is not required to showrevious occurrencex the particular type of har@it issuethe
D.C. Court of Appeals requires proof that the specific type of crime, natrjo in general, be
particularly foreseeable atthe relevant locatjoiicitations omitted) see alsdd. of Trustees of
Univ. of D.C. v. DiSalv®74 A.2d 868 (D.C. 2009)

Accordingly, thesePlaintiffs’ negligence claimbased on aommonlaw theory

of failure to warn wil be dismissed as conceded or, in the alternédiéailure to state claim.

33 The only exception of whicthe Court is aware is the duty to warn foreseeable victims of
mental patients originated Tarasoff v. Regents of the University of Califordtl P.2d 334

(Cal. 1976) Under this limited exceptiontHe special relationship between a patient and a
psychotherapist creates a duty to third pers@wlong as the intended victim is “identifiable.”
White v. United State$80 F.2d 97, 108 (D.C. Cir. 198@)itations omitted). Plaintiffs neither
point to any other circumstance nor rely on any aughafiplicable to the circumstances at hand.
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2. NegligencePer Seand Statutory Duty Theories

To recapitulate, the basic elements of a negligence claintrarexistence of a
duty of are, the breach of that duty of care, and an actual injury proximately caused by the
breach.The Court evaluatedbovePlaintiffs’ claims in which theequisite duty and standard of
care aresupplied bythe D.C. common law of negligence. Plaintiffs a&ssert claims in which
the dutyor standard of car@r both aresupplied by contract or statute. When a court uses a
statuteor regulation to modify a preexisting common law negligence action gmdviole the
requisite duty and standard of care fomagligence claimit is aclaim of negligenceper se See
Chadbourne v. KappaZ79 A.2d 293, 2996 (D.C. 2001) Jarrett v. Woodward Bros751
A.2d 972, 977 (D.C. 2000)However, when there is no preexisting common law negligence
cause ofction and glaintiff seekdort liability based on a statutory duty owedim, courts
refer toit asastatutory duty action in tortSeeCaroline Forel,The Statutory Duty Action in
Tort: A Statutory/common Law Hybrig3 Ind. L. Rev. 781, 79801 (1990) (discusing the
difference between negligenqeer seand statutory duty cases and analyzing two statutory duty
actions in the District of Columbia—Turner v. District of Columbigb32 A.2d 662 (D.C. 1987)
andRong Yao Zhou v. Jennifer Mall Re$tc., 534 A.2d1268 (D.C. 1987%) see alsdVilliams
v. Invenergy, LLCNo. 3:13CV-01391AC, 2014 WL 7186854, at*7 (D. Or. Dec. 16, 2014)

Specifically, Plaintiffs allege that(1) HPES and The Experts had a contractual
duty to report to the NaviploD the events of Augt 47, 2013 and to warn them about the risk
of harm posed by Mr. Alexis; and (2) HPES and The Experts were required UsiROM to
report any adverse information of Mr. Alexis up the clekicommand tdoD Central
Adjudication Facilty and the NavyPhintiffs Kohler, Ridgell, Zagami, and Jacdlsoallege

that HPES and The Experts were required under the D.C. Industrial Satét$A), D.C.
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Code. 88 3801 to-812, and the Occupational Safety & Health Act (O$#4o furnish a
reasonably safe placé @mployment. Plaintiff Delorenzoalso purports to allegen identical
claim under OSHA; however, OSH# howhere to be found in either Count | (against HPES) or
Count Il (against The Experts) of her Complaint

At the outset, ta Court will dismissPlantiffs’ negligencecontractbasedclaims.
Generally, no tort arises from a negligeareach of contractSeeKBI Transp. Servs. v. Med.
Transp. Mgrit., Inc, 679 F. Supp. 2d 104, 108 (D.D.C. 2010). This maxim holdsh&te
becaus®laintiffs could notoring a breach of contract actiasthey were neither parties nor
intended beneficiaries anyrelevantcontract €.g,the contract between HPES and The Experts
or the Contracbetween Navy andPES). Moreover, “[a] breach of contract n@ayy give rise
to a tort claim when there is an independent basis for the duty allegedhhduiéaSedd. at
10809 (emphasis added). In this instance, Plaintiffs’ contraséd claim focuson the fact that
HPES and The Experts weeguired to comply wh NISPOM and report any adverse
information concerningMr. Alexis. The contractbased claims amuplicative ofthe negligence
NISPOMbased claim. As suchthe Court wil dismissPlaintiffs’ negligence claims based on a
contractual duty.

The Court wii also dismiss the negligence OSHhased clainof Plaintiffs
Kohler, Ridgell, Zagami, and Jacobscause thefailed to oppose the motions to dismiss this
claim in their opposition briefs and at oral argumeBeeHopking 284 F. Supp. 2d at 25VNith
respect to Plaintiff Delorenzo, the Court finds that she did not raise BiA\@Ssed claim imer

Complaint andher opposition brief wanot the proper procedural vehicle to ambked

34 Plaintiffs fail to specify whether their claims are based on the d&@SHA statute, 29 U.S.C.
88 65178, or the D.C. OSHA statute, D.C. Code. 881321 to-1124 (2001). Both statutes are
identical in allmaterial respectsSeeD.C. Code§ 321103(a)(1).
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complaint. In addition the OSHAbasectlaims of these Plaintiffdack meit because OSHA
was designed to mitigate and prevent industrial accidents and occupatioaaksljs@ot violent
criminal conduct.See Ramsey Winch Inc. v. Herf%5 F.3d 1199, 12636 (10th Cir. 2009)
(noting “the absence ayspecific OSHA standard on workplace violence” and that “OSHA is
aware of the controversy surrounding firearms in the workplace and has copsdetidednot
to adopt a standard”) (emphasis in original).

I. Negligenceunder NISPOM

Plaintiffs’ claims underNISPOMarestyled as negligencper se Plaintiffs rely
on NISPOMto modify and expand the preexistihg common law duty to warnahdld HPES
and The Experts negligent as a matter of law for faiing to comply witlstémelards articulated
in NISPOM. Under D.C. law, “violation of atatuteor regulation may constitute negligence as a
matter of law,” that is, negligenceer se Dine v. W. Exterminating CaNo. CIV.A. 86
1857(0G), 1988 WL 25514t *4 (D.D.C. Mar. 9, 19883 Critically, “[n]ot every satutory or
regulatory violation, however, permits a plaintiff to bypass the duty andtboéaltty elements
of anegligenceclaim” 1d. In this context,'where a particular statutory or regulatory standard is
enacted to protect persons in the plaintiff’s position or to prevent the typeidémrtathat
occurred, and the plaintiff can establish his relationship tstttete unexplained violation of
that standard rendetise defendant negligent as a matter of laé&co Corp. v. Colemad4l
A.2d 940, 945 (D.C1982) (quotingRichardson v. Gregory81 F.2d 626, 629 (D.C. Cir.

1960)). “If, however, the defendant produces evidence tending to excuse or explain the

35 Although NISPOM is neither a statute nor a regulation, but rather an operatimgl

defining security requirements for cleared defense contractors, HlERa Experts assume
arguendahat Plaintiffs may rely on NISPOM to supply the duty and standard of care for their
claims. The Court will do the same and assumes, without deciding, IBROW could be

relied upon to assert a negligenger seclaim.
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violation, the violation may be considered evidenceegfigencerather tha negligenceper se’
Chadbourne779 A.2d at 295 (citations omitted).

In the caseof an intervening criminal acas here, D.C. law requires that “the
third-party criminal conduct” be “the very injury . .. which the statute intdnideprevent.”
Romerq 749 F.2d at 83 (quotindanof v. Newsoyb3 F.2d 149, 152 (D.C. Cir. 1931)). In the
same way that D.C. courts, “in their development of comlanantort rules, have imposed
especially stringent requirements to support” civil liability for tmedty criminal conduct, “they
would similarly require a clear indication of a statutory purpose produciry liabdity.” Id.
Thus the statutory purpose must be narrowly defined to match the criminal cosdtlosely
and precisely as possible&See id.(rejecting negligenceer setheory under the D.C. Firearms
Control RegulationAct of 1975, D.C. Code Ann. 882801 to-2380 (1981)because “neither
the nature of the provision in question nor its legislative history clearhatedica purpose of
prewenting crimes by guthieves”) (citation omitted).Consequently, the relevant question is
whether Plaintiffs can establish that NISP @fsisintended specifically to prevewbblent crimes
(i.e., mass murderata federal facilty {.e., mitary base).

NISPOMrequires defense contractors, such as HPES and The Experts, to convey
pertinent derogatory information of cleared persotm&oD’s Central Adjudication Facilty via
“incident reports” through the JoifPersonnel Adjudication System (JPAS). J&Athe system
of records fopersonnel security clearance adjudication and managemgmeceiving incident
reports with derogatory or adverse informati@oD can determine whethée information
tends to demonstrate the individual's inability to gaerd classified information and whether
his/her security clearance, which is a prerequisite to warkheContract, should be revoked.

See generallHPES MTD, Ex. B to Raofield Decl. (NISPOM)ee alsd’roctor Compl. 1 18
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19. Plaintiffs contend thatf iIHPES and The Expertsad reportedhe events of August-4, 2013
through JPASDoD would have revokedr. Alexis’s security clearance and he wiab not have
been able taccesshe Navy Yardin September 2018ven if this speculative chain of events
weretaken as truett does not advance Plaintiffs’ theory because NISPOM was not issued to
prevent violent criminal conduct, let alone mass murder at the workplace.

NISPOMwas issueds part of the National Industrial Security Program
established in ExecuvOrder 1829 to prevent the unauthorized disclosure of classified
information SeeExec. Order No. 12,289, 58 C.F.R. 3479, as amended 58 Fed. Reg. 3479
(January 6, 1993).The Executive Order clearly statéShe purpose of this [National Industrial
Security Program] is t@afeguard classified informatidhat may be released or has been
releasedo current, prospective, or former contractors, licensees, or grantddeged States
agencies.”ld. 8 101 (emphasis addedgxecutive Ordefi2,289 identifiesthe purpose of
NISPOMasto “prescribe specific requirements, restrictions, and other satigtmat are
necessaro preclude unauthorized disclosure and control authorized disclosure of classified
informationto contractors, licenseest grantees.”ld. 8 201 (emphasis addedee also
NISPOMS 1-100 (defining purpose of NISPOM) & 83D0 (defining reporting obligations for
events “that affect proper safeguarding of classified informatiorto.enablgDoD] to
determine whether claied information is protected”).

Since the purpose of NISPOM was not to protect individuals from violent srime
at the workplace, Plaintiffs’ negligenadaims under NISPOM will be dismissedSee Lewis v.
United States83 F. Supp. 3d 198, 210 (D.D.Z015);Hunter ex rel. A.H. v. District of

Columbia 64 F. Supp. 3d 158, 190 (D.D.C. 2014).
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. Negligence under ISA

The D.C. Industrial Safety Agirovides in relevant part that “[e]Jvery employer
shall furnish a place of employment which shall be reasprsaibe for employees, shall furnish
and use safety devices and safeguards, and shall adopt and use practice spetieadiss,
operations, and processes which are reasonably safe and adequate to rendepleuobre
and place of employment reasonably safe.C. Code § 3:B0g9a).3¢ Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami,
Ridgel, and Jacobs argue that 188tablishes a statutory duty of care that is actionable iR’tort.
There are two fatal problems with this theory of liability.

The first problemwith Plaintiffs’ allegationsis thatISA wasenacted trevent
workplacerelated accidents and, thusgdes not establish duty to prevent violent criminal
conduct. Wheninterpreting a statute, the first step is todk at the language of the statbie
itself to see if the language is plain and admits of no more than one meemlagconstruing
the words in theiordinary sense and with the meaning commonly attributed to thBwldyns
v. United State80 A.3d 155, 159 (D.C. 2011nternal quotabn marks and citation omitted).

In addition courts*may appropriately look beyond plain meaning

36 The statute defines “employer” as any person or entity (not including thetDatColumbia
or the United States, or any instrumentality thereof) “having control or custadyy place of
employment or of any employee.” D.C. Code 8882(1). The statute defines “place of
employment” as “any place where employment is carried on,” including “anyllamdri of
whatever nature being performed by an independent contractor for the Unitedh8tatesnent
or any instrumentality thereof . .. Id. 8 32808(4).

37HPES and The Experts treated the negligence claim under ISA as one of negligese At
oral argument, counsel for Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgel, Zagami, and Jaargoed that
characterizing their claims as negligenoer sewould “miss[] the thrust of [their] complaint and
of [their] argument” and that their claims are styled as a statutory duty a8fib®.2016 Hr'g

Tr. at 80:514. Because, as explained in the text, ISA is inapplicable and doegose ia duty
on HPES and The Experts to prevent the criminal acts of Mr. Alexsjishgreement
concerning the nature of the claims is immaterial.
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where (1) a review of the legislative history or andepth

consideration of alternativeonstructionsof the statutory language

reveals ambiguities thabhe court must resolve; (2) the literal

meaning of thetatute produces absurd results; (3) the plain meaning

constructionleads to an obvious injustice; or (4) refusal to adhere to

plain mening is necessary in order édfectuate the legislative

purposeof the statute as a whole.

Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).

The purpose of ISA “is to foster, promote, and develop the safety of wage®ar
of the District of Columbia in relation to their working conditions.” DGdode § 32801.

Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, Ridgell, and Jacobsnstrue this broad statement to include any sort
of danger or risk, including mass murdéro support their argument, they rely on the statute’s
definition of “safe” and “safety” as “such freedom from danger to lifbeaith of employees as
circumstances reasonably permiSeead. § 32802(3) (adding that the definitionsHall not be
given any restrictive interpretation so as to exclude any mitigation ornpevef a specific
danger”). The statute’s purpose, asalas the definttion of “safety,areambiguous given the
breadth othe language. The “mitigation or prevention of a specific dangetit refer to the

risk of harm posed by an accident, an intentional tort, or a criminal act.

The ISAgeneral languagdoes not €learly indicat[e] a statutory purpose to
prevent violent criminal conductRomerq 749 F.2d at 83. In the absence of sudedr
indication” in the text, the Courboks pastthe statutory text Id. (emphasis added)And indeed,
the legislatre history directly contradictthe interpretationof ISA argueddy Plaintiffs Kohler,
Zagami, Ridgell, and Jacobs. That histanambiguouslyshows that thérue purpose of the
statuteis to mitigate and prevent weorklated accidentsThe D.C. Court of Appeals Wartin v.

George Hyman Construction Cstated in relevant partThe congressional purpoga ISA] in

imposing this greater duty of care toward wage earners is evident frdegithetive history of
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the [statute] Congress was concerned with the ‘appaling numbefrglage earnensjured in
employmentelated‘accidents?” 395 A.2d 63, 7dD.C. 1978)(quoting H.R. Rep. No. 918,
77th Cong., 1st Sess. 2 (1941);R&p. No. 67577th Cong., 1st Sess. 2 (1941)) (emghas
added). The court further stated:

The congressional determination that “most of thesedentsare

due to lack of proper supervision and control’ is an implicit
recognition that wage earners wil not always exercise due care for
their own safety.Finding that thesaccidents’could be avoided if
proper safety measures were take@bngress imposed upon
employers (as broadly defined) the smsponsibility for avoiding
those accidentsIn so doing, Congress established a new standard
of care which. . . requires the exercise of due céwethe prevention

not only of injuries to which wage earners do not contribute but all
“accidents” which might be avoided by the emplogesare. See
generally87 Cong.Rec. 7658 (1941) (remarks of Rep. Randolph)
(purpose of legislation isdccidentprevention) ... . This court is

not free to disregard the command of Congress nor to frustrate its
unequivocal intent.

Id. at 7071 (emphasis added).

Without a single reference to workplace violence or criminal conduSAs
legislative history, lie congressional record is replete with references to accident preastion
its purpose. Thosecasesecognizing negligence claims under |3dlied upon by Platiffs,
involved workrelated accidentsiot intentional torts or criminal conduckeeg e.g, Traudtv.
Potomac Elec. Power Ca692 A.2d 1326, 13292 (D.C. 1997) (negligence claim for burns
sustained by employee while removing asbeskry)y. DiamondConstr., Inc,659 A.2d 241,
247 (D.C. 1995) (negligence claim for injuries when employee fell off ladiajtin, 395 A.2d
at 65, 7071 (negligence claim for injuries when employee felagstaircase). Therei®
authority for the proposition thatifae to anticipate and/oprevent a criminal adonstitutes

negligence under the statute.
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Finally, the legislative history and relevant case law highlight a seconérprobl
with thesePlaintiffs’ reliance on ISA Thatstatute was designed to imposéiliey on
employers who contraitherthe premises of the workplace or the employee who suffers the
injury. See Traudit92 A.2d at 13232; Fry, 659 A.2d at 247Martin, 395 A.2d at 65, 7J1.
ISA was enacted on theriplicit recognition that wage eaers wil not always exercise due care
for their own safetyyand, thus, the burden to provide for their safeiyposed on the employer
as circumstances reasonably permMartin, 395 A.2d at 70. In the instant case, none of the
victims was an employesubject to the contrand custodyof either HPES or The Experts
Similarly, the Navy (not HPES or The Experts) had control or custody of Buili$v at the
Washington Navy YardThe fact that HPES and The Expemight havehad control or custody
overMr. Alexis is irrelevantunderISA.

Becausaeither thetext of ISA nor itslegidative history indicate a purpose of
preventing violent criminal conduet the workplacethe Court wil dismiss those clainmsed
on ISA.

iil. Negligenceunder 18 U.S.C.8 930(Firearms in Federal Facilities)and
Federal Policies/Manuals/Regulations

In her oppositionand at oral argumenk laintiff Delorenzostatedhat her
“Complaint adequately aleges a claim of negligepee sefor violation of Title 18 United
StatesCode 8930 (prohibiting possession of firearms on federal faciltieajpd that it relies on
this criminal statute to provide the requistaty and standard of care. Delorenzo Opp’'n to

HPES MTD Case No. 1216 [Dkt. 127 at 3;see als®/16/2016 Hr'gTr. at 86:710.38 A

38 This criminal statute provides, in relevant part, for the punishmen{lpfwhoever

knowingly possesses or causes to be present a firearm or other dangerousinvad@reral
faciity”; (2) “[w]hoever, with intent that a firearm or other dangerous weapon be used in the
commission of a crime, knowingly possesses or causes to be present such firearm
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review of the counts against HPES and The Exgé@tsints | and Il respectivelyi Plaintiff
Delorenzo’s Complainshows naclaim based on this criminal statutelaintiff Delorenzo makes
various references to the statute as pareofGomplaint's factual background and in Count Ill
(against the United States)d Count IV (against John/Jane Does5§#3° Counts | and II,

which expressly mention NISPOM atite common lawof negligence in the District of
Columbia, danot include anyclaim of negligenceper se much lessne based on ihcriminal
Statute.

In Counts | and I, Plaintiff Delorenzo alleges that HPES and The EBxpert
breached their “duties of care to [clJomply with the laws (Federal) amdhon law of the
District of Columlia in a noAnegligent manner.’Delorenzo Compl. 11 236(A), 267(A)This
allegation was too vague provide notice to Defendants that Plaintiff Delorenzo intended to
assert negligenceper seclaim basean 18 U.S.C. § 930SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)‘Judges are
not expected to be mindreaders. Consequently, a litigant has an obligation ootsizll
arguments [and claimgquarelyand distinctly, or foreverhold its peace’ United States v.
Zannino,895 F.2d 1, 17 (1st Cir. 1990nhternal quotatin marks and citatiommitted). The

Court finds that Plaintiff Delorenzo did not raisaaegligenceper seclaim against HPES or The

Federal facilty”; or (3) “[a] person who kills any person in the courseviaflation of [the
previous two subsections], or in the course of an attack on a Federal iaaltyng the use of
afirearm....” 18 U.S.C. § 930.

390n November 3, 2014, District Judge Steven D. Merryday in the U.S. D@tigt for the

Middle District of Florida dismissed Count Il (tort claims againsitédl States) for lack of

subject matter jurisdiction.SeeOrder, Case No. 1216 [Dkt. 85]. Count IV, which alleges a

claim against unidentified federal employees urigleens v. Six Unkown Named Agent403

U.S. 388 (1971)—the federal cause of action to recover for damages sustained by a violation of
the U.S. Constitution by federal officers acting under the color of fedetfadrély — remains.
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Experts anghecannot rely on her opposition brief and statements during oral argument to
amend her Complaint.

Moreover,even if Plaintiff Delorenzdadalleged a negligencper seclaim based
on this criminal statutet would fail as a matter of law.Violation of a statute may give rise to a
civil cause of action, and may constitute negligepee sef the statute is meant to promote
safety, if the plaintiff is'a memier of the class to be protected by the statatel’if the
defendant is a personpon whom thetatute imposes specific duties.McCracken v. Walls
Kaufman 717 A.2d 346, 354 (D.@998) (quoting Marusa v. District of Columbiad84 F.2d
828 834 (D.C. Cir. 1973) (other citation omitted).Even if the criminal prohibitionin 18 U.S.C.
§ 930 meall three requirements, Plaintiff Delorenzo has failed to allege argtéashow that
HPES or The Experts knew about Mr. Alexis’s possession of a shotgun or higrntenbring
any firearm into the Navy Yard. At oral argument, counsel for PlaiDéfforenzo statethat her
negligenceper seclaim is supported by the fact that, basedrenNavy Report and a retained
expert on industrial security, “HP[ES] was obligated to physically deny] [Mexis access to
the federal facilties until HP[ES] could fully understand and deal jMih] Alexis’s condition.”
8/16/2016 Hr'g Tr. at 882-24. The argument miscastise nature of a negligengeer seclaim.

Under this theory of liability,a statute provides both the duty ahdstandard of
care. SeeChadbourne779 A.2d at 2986. As a result, Plaintiff Delorenzo may not rely on
expert tesnony to establish the appropriate standard of care as if it wemm@on law
negligence claim. Moreover, Plaintiff Delorenzo’s allegation purportoltbHPES andhe
Expertsstrictly liable for the shooting even if they did n&in'owinglyposess[] ocause(] to be
present a firearm” at the Navy Yarl8 U.S.C. § 930gmphasis addé¢d This analysisis

inconsistent with @er setheory of liability Plaintiff Delorenzo offers no facts to support her
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allegation that HPES or The Experolated thiscriminal statute. Thefore, even if such a
claim werealleged in Counts | and Il of the Complaint, it would be dismissed astarroataw.

A similar reasoning applies to Plaintiff Delorenzglethora of executive orders,
policies, manuals, regulatignguidelines, and other dogents, which were mentioned in her
opposition brief andierComplaint’'s factual background, but were not relied upon or mentioned
in Counts | and Il.SeeDelorenzo Opp’'rto HPES MTDat2, 260 As stated abovehe Court
finds thatPlaintiff Delorenzo’'s Complaint does not make autegligenceper seclaim.
Moreover,her Qpposition citesexecutive documentand refers to exhibitsheattached tdner
Opposition but does not explainow anyof themmees the three criteria foanegligenceper se
claim. See McCracke@l7 A.2d a354 “Itis not enough merely to mention a possible
argument in the most skeletal way, leaving the court to do ctsingetk, create the ossature for
the argument, and put flesh on its bohe&annino,895 F.2d at 17.

To be clearnone ofthese documents supm# negligenceper seclaim. As with
NISPOM, Executive Order JB7 andits related regulationsvere promulgated to ensure the
effectiveness of insider threat programs @mprotect clasified national security information.
SeeExec. Order No. 3587 3 C.F.R.13587 76 Fed. Reg63811 (October 72001) (titled,
“Structural Reforms to Improve the Security of Classified Networks anReisponsible Sharing
and Safeguarding of Classifiddformation”). They were not designed to prevent workplace
violence, let alonenass murder oamiltary base With respectto the other documents

regarding physical security and law enforcement within Navy or militartallagons, P lairitf

40 Some of the documents cited in l&&pposition areExecutive Order 13587: ‘National
Insider Threat Policy’; SECNAVINST 5510.37: ‘Department of the Navy Insideeat
Program’ . . [;] OPNAVINST 5530.14E (April 19, 2010)[;PoD Directive 5210.56 (Feb 25,
1992, reissued April 1, 2011)EENAVINST 5510.37 (Aug. 8, 2013); SECNAV-8510.30
(June 2006).” Delorenzo Opp’n to HPES MTD at 2, 26 (alterations omitted).
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Delorenzohasfailed to showmhatthese documentsnposeal specific duties omny entities other
than the Navy-—particularly not onHPES and The Experts, as to which there aracots
showing they hadontrol over the physical premises of the Navy Yhadilaw erforcement
authority and knewthat one of its employees possessed a firearm to be used in the perpetration
of a crime. Therefore, even if properly raised, Plaintiff Delorenzo failed dtesh negligenceer
seclaim upon which relief can be granted.

3. Theories of Vicarious Liability for Assault and Battery

Plaintiffs McCulloughand Proctoasserthreeclaims ofassault and battery
againstHPES and The Experts based on a theory of vigarliability, specifically, the doctrine
of respondeat superiof SeeMcCullough Compl Count Il (“Assault & Battery”);Proctor
Compl. Count VII(*Vicarious Liabiity —Wrongful Death”) and Count VIII (“\¢arious
Liability — Survival’).

HPES and The Experts mote dismissCount Il of the McCullough Complaint
and CountVIIl of the Proctor Comglint because they are barred by D.C.’s-gear statute of
imitations for assault and battery claim&eeD.C. Code § 1:301(4). “The statute of
imitations for a claim brought pursuant to the Survival Actis the stafuimtations apptable
to the underlying claim, and the clapenerally acares on the date of the decedsrmjury, and
not on the date of the decedent’s deatBdsey v. Ward7 F. Supp. 3d 45, 53 (D.D.C. 2014),
reconsideration denie®7 F. Supp. 3d 54 (D.D.C. 201fimternal quotation marks and citation
omitted). Because the assault and battery daimderlying Raintiff Proctorand McCullougts

survival action accrued on Septemtér 2013, andtheyfiled ther complains on September 14,

41*Respondeat superidgg a doctrine of vicarious liabiity and allows the employer to be held
liable for the acts of his employees committed within the scope ofethmgloyment.” Penn
Cent. Transp. Co. v. Reddi@88 A.2d 27, 29 (D.Cl979) (citations omitted)
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2015 (Proctor)and September 15, 201McCullough) — “one yearafterthe statute of
imitations expired— their survival claims againgtiPES and The Expertdpsed on assault and
battery are therefore tim@arred. Casey67 F. Supp. 3d at 53. In additioRJaintiffs Proctor
and McCulloughfailed to oppose this argument and, thus, concedegkieHopking 284 F.
Supp. 2d at 25Both claims will be dismissed as time barred or, in the alteenadis conceded.

Plaintiff Proctors claimunder D.C.’s wrongfudeath statute, which is governed
by a tweyear statute of imitationsremainsoutstanding SeeD.C. Code 816-2702. To state a
claim againstHPES and The Experts, Plaintiff Proctor must allege sufficiens factupport an
inference that Mr. Alexis’sonduct occurred within the scope of his employment as a computer
technician. Exxon Mobil Corp, 573 F. Supp. 2d at 246pecifically, there must be sufficient
“facts, which, if true, demonstrate that the alleged conduct of [an eraplasges an outgrowtlof
their work assignments, or an integral part of their business actiitiesests or objectives.”
Keys v. WMATA408 F. Supp. 2d 4 (D.D.C. 2005). No such factual allegatiocan be found
in Plaintiff Proctor's Complaint.

Conduct occurs within the scope of employment only if:

(@) it is of the kind he is employed to perform; (b) it occurs

substantially within the authorized time and space lmits; (® it i

actuated, at least in part, by a purpose to serve the master; @nd (d)

force is intentinally used by the servant against another, the use of

force is not unexpectable by the master.
Restatement (Second) of Agency § 228 (1958f alsdchecter892 A.2d at 431.11f the
employees’conduct is different in kind from that authorized, far beyond time or spaits lor
too little actuated by a purpose to serve the master, then the conductvihinothe scope of

employment. Majano v. United Stated469 F.3d 138, 141 (D.C. Cir. @) (citing Restatement

(Second) of Agency 8§ 22&emphasis added). Moreover, “[tlhe key inquiry is the employee’s
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intent at the moment the tort occurredid’ at 142. Finally, as thedudge Scalia wrote ihordan

v. Medley “A directed verdict againghe employer would be particularly rare in the case of an
intentional tort, which by its nature is wilful and thus more readily suggestsonal

motivation.” 711 F.2d 211, 215 (&. Cir. 1983).

Plaintiff Proctor argues that this is ookthoserarecases in which there are
sufficient facts to support a finding thdt. Alexis was actingwithin the scope of his
employmentwhen he engaged in a murderous rampage at the Navy YhedCourt disagrees.
Plaintiff Proctor argues that HPES and The Expedse “vicariously liable for [Mr.] Alexis’s
acts through theories of agency in the aidxatetion and apparent authority.Proctor Opp'n
Case No. 18494 [Dkt. 19]at 3940 (citing Proctor Compl. 1996221). Plaintiff Proctor relies
on Restatemensgcond) of Agency § 219(2)(d), which states in relevant part:

A master is not subject to liability for the torts of his servania@ct

outside the scope of their employment, unless . . . the servant

purported to act or to speak on behalf of the princigpad there was

reliance upon apparent authority, or he was aided in accomplishing

the tort by the existence of the agency relation.

He also relies ooe v. Sippewherea parttime femaleemployee of defendant New Leaf
Brands, Inc., sued the company after a company executive used his positiore teeinithis
hotel room to book airline tickets for upcoming trade shows and then rape@2ieF. Supp. 2d
384, 386 (D.D.C. 2011)The enployee sought to hold the company liable for the executive’s
conduct on the basaf agency inaid of execution and apparent authorifihe court rejected the
theory of apparent authority, bidund that there were sufficient facts to supporttitie®ry @
agency in aid of executionSee idat 39093.

The Court finds that Mr. Alexis acted outside the scope of his employment when

he opened fire indiscriminatelin Buiding 197 on the Navy Yard, kiling twelve individuals and

67



injuring four others. Plaintiff Proctor canrgitiowthat committing mass murder at the Navy
Yard was an outgrowtbf Mr. Alexis’s work assignment as a computer technician or that it was
an integral part of his duties or business activitiSee Key08 F. Supp. 2d at 4f. Murphy,

458 A.2d at 663. Nor does Plaintiff Proctor allege that Mr. Alexis committieid crimes to

further the interests of HPES and The ExpeBiee Reddicl398 A.2d at 31(“T he employer will

not be held liable for those willful acts, intended by the agent only to furthemim interest, not
done for the employer at a);"seealsoFrasier Compl. 147 (alleging that a note was found in
Mr. Alexis’s computer stating, “ultra low frequency attack is whead been subject to for the

last three months, and be perfectly honest that is what has driven me to this”).

Moreover, “[tthe moment the agent turns aside from the business of theairinci
and commits an independent trespass,” such as here, “the principaliableibtecause “[tlhe
agent is not thn acting within the scope of his authority in the business of the principal, but in
the furtherance of his own endsSchechter892 A.2d at 43Xquoting Axman v. Washington
Gaslight Co.38 App. D.C. 150158 (1912)). Similarly, iBoykin the D.C. Court of Appeals
held that, even though the school employee’s job “necessarily included some phys@et!’ cont
with studers, “a sexual assault mdgot] be deemed a direct outgrowth of a school official's
authorization to take a student by tiend or arm in guiding her past obstacles in the building.”
Boykin 484 A.2d ab62. ‘If the instructor's actions Boykincould not render his employer
vicariously liable, it is hard to see how Plaingiffroctor]could prevd on that issue heré.

Sipper 821 F. Supp. 2dt389.
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With respect tdnis theories of apparent authority and agency in aid of execution,
Plaintiff Proctors sole authoritySipper supportsdismissal of his claim? Asin Sipper his
theory of apparent authority “can be eastpdnsed with” becaugkere is no factual basis to
intimate thatMr. Alexis could “have ‘purported to act or to speak on behalf of” HPES or The
Experts while shooting people indiscriminate §d. at 391. Indeed, his victims had no
“opportunity to evemake th[e] determination” of whether to rely ugus allegedapparent
authority. 1d. Any assertion to the contraiy totally belied by the allegations in the Complaint.

Plaintiff Proctor’s theory of agency in aid of executfames no betterP lainiff
Proctor argues that “but for the building pass provided and visit scheduled by This Bxjolor
HPES, [Mr.] Alexis would not have been able to commit this atdctor Opp'n at 4@d1
(quoting Proctor Compl. 11 204, 217Assumingthe factualallegationsto betrue, they are
insufficient. InSippetthe court noted,

The D.C. Circuit has acknowledged the superficial expansiveness of

the standard.See Garyp9 F.3d at 1397 (“In a sense, a supervisor

is always ‘aided in accomplishing the tort by the existence of the

agency’ because his responsibilities provide proximity to, and

regular contact with, the victim.”). Yet, &ary explains, “The

commentary to theRestatement suggests that this [approach]

embraces a narrower concept that holds the employer liable only if

the tort was ‘accomplished by an instrumentality, or through

conduct associated with the agency stdtusl’ (citing Barnes v.

Costle, 561 F.2d 83, 996 (D.C.Cir. 1977) (MacKinnon, J.,

concurring)).
Sipper 821 F. Supp. 2dt 392. The Sippercourtidentified multiple allegations to support an

inferencethat theallegedsexual assault was “accomplishbg an instrumentality or through

conduct asociated with the agency statusf the perpetraton.e., the executiveallegedly used

42The Court assumes, without deciding, that Restatement (Second) of Agencg)81219(
applies to commetaw claims in the District of ColumbiaSee SippeB21 F. Supp. 2dt 391
(citing Gary v. Long59 F.3d 1391 (D.C. Cir. 1995)).
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his authorityto lure plaintiff to his hotel roonwith a workrelated excuse (booking flight tickets
for upcoming trade shows), even though he intended to have sehewtforcibly or otherwise).
Id. at 39293 (citation omitted).

Plaintiff Proctor only allegeshat HPES and The Experts provided Mr. Alexis
with access to the Navy Yard. This factis insufficieffP]rovid[ing] proximity to, and regular
contactwith, the victim” does not support an amy-agencyrelation theory.SeeGary,59 F.3d
at 1397 “Itis a general principle of agency law that ‘[i|]f a person has infaamatvhich would
lead a reasonable man to believe that the agent is violating tes ofdhe principal or that the
principal would not wish the agent to act under the circumstances known to tihehegeannot
subject the principal to liability.”” 1d. (quoting Restatement (Second) of Agency § 166, cmt. a).
Plaintiff Proctor cannot\ail himself of the theories in § 219(d)(2) because he “could not have
believed (and nor does [Jhe claim) that [Mr. Alexis] was acting withé dolor of his authority.”
Id. at 139798, cf. Restatement (Second) of Agency 8§ 219, cmt. e (including exswipie
telegraph operator who sends false messages purporting to come from andtioég store
manager whaises his position to cheatstomers).

HPES and The Experts did not provide Mr. Alexis withitisrumentality (the
shotgun)that aided him irthe commission dhis horrific crime. SeeNichols v. Land Transp.
Corp., 103 F. Supp. 2d 25, 28 (D. Me. 1998jf'd, 223 F.3d 21 (1st Cir. 200@)ejecting
vicarious liability for employemwhodid not provide truck driver with knife used $tab plaintiff
andwhere driverdid not act as agent when he left his truck to confront plaintfy. Alexis’s
criminal conduct (mass murdezannot be associated in any way with his status as a computer

technician. See id.cf. Restatement (Secondj Agency § 219cmt. e
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The fact thatitnemployee’s work “afforded him an opportunity to” commit the
crime is “insufficient to make [aemployer] vicariously liable,” without regard tiee theory of
liability. Boykin 484 A.2d at 56&54. Accordingly, tle Courtrejects Plaintiff Proctor's scope
of-employment, appareigigency, and aideloy-agencyrelation theories.Plaintiff Proctor’s
claim for assault and battery under D.C.’s wrongful death statutbevilismissed for failure to
state a claim.

C. Motion to Dismiss bySe curity Firm HBC

Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs alege that HBC was negligdailing to
provide reasonable security measures to prevent the Navy Yard shooting. rgleethat HBC
voluntarily assumed a duty to provide security services at Building ififedNavy Yard and to
protectthose onts premises.In support, Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs argue that HBC
assumeduch aduty byits security contract wit the Navy. SeeHBC Suppl. Mot., Ex. 1 [Dkt.
23-1] (HBC Contrat). They argue thadBC’svoluntary undertakinghot only created a
contractual dutyto the Navy but also,a special relationshipetweerit and the victimsthat gave
rise to a common law duty to exercise reasonable care in performeegcusty servicesHBC
moves to dismiss thisommon lawnegligence clainunder Rule 12(b)(6).

“[A] determination of whether a duty exists is the result of a variety of
consideratioa and not solely theelationship between the parties “is also shaped by
considerations of fairness and results ultimately from policy decisiade by the courts and the
legislatures.” Presley v. Commercial Moving & Rigging, In25 A.3d 873, 888 (D.C. 2011)
(quoting DiSalvo,974 A.2d at 871 & n.2) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)). In
“determining whether a party who performs services under a contract for opagsuitnes a
duty to an unrelated third party,” D.C. courts hawvasdered, although not formally adopted,

8 324A of theRestatement (Second) of Tortisl. at 889 (citihgHaynesworth v. D.H. Stevens
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Co, 645 A.2d 1095, 1097 (D.C. 1994pee alsdGilbert v. Miodovnik990 A.2d 983, 994 n.15
(D.C. 2010) (noting that 8 @A has not beeformally adopted in the District of Columbia).
Section 324A provides that:
One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render
services to another which he should recognize as necessary for the
protection of a third person bis things, is subject to liability to the
third person for physical harm resulting from his failure to exercise
reasonable care to protect his undertaking, if

(a) his failure to exercise reasonable care increases the risk
of such harm, or

(b) he has undertaketo perform a duty owed by the other
to the third person, or

(c) the harm is suffered because of reliance of the other or
the third person upon the undertaking.

RestatementSecond) of Tort§ 324A. In light of the Restatemeiand “in the absence of
contractual privity with an unrelated third party,” such as here, cappiging D.C. lawhave
looked “to the contract to determine the scope of the undertaking as it reltte ptotection of
the third party.” Presley 25 A.3dat 888 (citihngHaynesworth645 A.2d at 1098Caldwell v.
Bechtel, Inc.631 F.2d 989, 10001 (D.C. Cir. 1980)).

Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacdfighlight several portions of the HBSavy
security contract to support their claifBome of themost relevant portions ahatcontract
provided

. The Contractor shall provide security operations to ensure

security and safety for personnel, property, faciites, and assets

(HBC 00069).

" The Contractor shall monitor interior patrol areas to ensure

searity breaches and criminal or suspicious activities are detected
and reported in a timely manner (HBC 00072).
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[The Contractor has a general duty] [t]o proféstaval Sea

Systems Command)NAVSEA persons (miltary, civilans and
visitors) and property (HBC 00222).

shall]:

[With respect to the NABEA Fixed Posts, th€ontractor

o Take all reasonable precautions to protect the health and

safety of all persons in the buiding(s) under guard,
minimize the danger from all hazards to lfe and
property, comply with all health, safety and fire
protection regulations (including reporting
requirements), and remove from duty any security guard
employee who may have a communicable disease (HBC
00224).

Deter the commission of assaults, batteries, robberies,
rapes and other crimes of violence in the guard’s area of
responsibility by his/her psence (HBC 00223).

Deadly force for NAVSEA Security Guards is justified

[wlhen deadly force reasonably appears to be necessary to
protect law enforcement or security personnel who reasonably
believe themselves or others to be in imminent dangeeathd

or serious bolyi harm . . . [or] to prevent commission of a
serious offense involving violence and threatening death or
serious bodily harm[, such as] murder, armed robbery and
aggravated assault (HBC 002248).

SeeHBC Contract. Clearly, HBC’s ntractincludes various references to the promotion of

safety and the protection of Navy Yard personnel agamsinal acts

The undertaking of a contractual duty is merelygbiet of departure. “We have

put aside the notion that the duty to spmierd life and limb, when the consequences of
negligence may be foreseen, grows out of contract and nothing BsePherson v. Buick

Motor Co, 111 N.E. 1050, 1053 (N.Y. 1916) (Cardozo, JThe contract provides the initiating
source of the duty” angincePlaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs have not “brought this action
. .. for breach of contract but rather . .. for an asserted breach otythef deasonable care,”

the Courtmust consider many facts beyond the contract, such as anydeféhdant’s “superior
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skills and posttion,” and the defendant’s “resultability to foresee the harthat might
reasonably be expected to befalCaldwell 631 F.2d at 997, 998 n.12, 160D (emphasis
added) (finding that in light of the contraspecialskills, knowledge of the dangerous condition,
and abilty toforesee theisk of harmand protect against such harm, the defendant assamed
special relationship to protect the foreseeable plaintiff from sugh ris

While the contracteferences duty todeta and report criminal activity anithe
authority touse deadly force tprevent a crimeit cannot be said that thereasduty (under the
contract orat common law}o protectagainstunforeseeableriminal acts by third partie%.
Foreseeability reains at the core of this negligence clagwen wheriability is premised on a
theory of voluntary undertakingSee idat 993 (“The issue in this case, then, is whether the
contractual authority vested in [defendant] with respectto job siteysafpiations created a
special relationship between [the parties to the suit] under which [def¢ndsaed a duty to
[plaintiff] to take reasonable steps to protect him from the foresessibk® his health posed by
the dust laden Metro tunnels.” Other juisdictions are in agreemertieeVu v. Singer C9538
F. Supp. at 33 (N.D. Cal. 1988ff'd, 706 F.2d 1027 (9th Cir. 1983) (“Plaintiffs cannotyaie
on this claim because the ‘gratuitous undertakigctrine does not obviate the requirement that
duty can only be predicated upon foreseeable harm to a foreseeablé)Vicitation omitted);

see alsd-igueroa v. Evangelical Covenant Chur8@9 F.2d 1427, 14339 (7th Cir. 1989)

43 HBC points out thithe prevention of unforeseeable crimes is impossilBlee E. Capitol View
Cmty. Dev. Corp. v. Robinsp#vl A.2d 1036, 1040 (D.C. 2008)A(‘party’s obligation to
perform under a contract may be excused ifqoarance is rendered impossible.”). Notalily,
tort law, “a duty of due care .. .is based primarily upon social goliy, a contract; therefore,
it is society that “specifies to whom the duty is owdd.(the foreseeable plaintiff), as well as
the “expectations of conduct, such as the expectancy that [defendant’s] adltiod cause
foreseeable injury to anotherCaldwell 631 F.2d at 9988 (citing W. Prosseandbook of
the Law of Torts§ 92 (4th ed. 1971)).
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(stating that once college voluntarily provided security services to inwiiresampuslability
could attach onlfor thoseinjuries resultig from the king of crimes reasonablforeseeable to
the college).

The tort concept of foreseeabilty is relevant to both elementsitpfand
proximate causationSeeOpp’'n to HBC MTD Case No. 13636 [Dkt. 28]at 26 (citihng Rieser
v. District of Columbia563 F.2d 462, 4780 (D.C. Cir. 2911)yacated and reinstated in
relevant part580 F.2d 647 (D.C. Cir. 1978) (en banc) (“The question of proximate causation,
like that of duty, is at base one of foreseeabilty. If a negligent, iamahtor even criminal
intervening act or end result was reasonably foreseeable to the origioglh&cliability wil not
ordinarily be superseddyy thatintervening act.”y** This concept of foreseeabilty is not
abrogated or replaced in assumption of duty cases. As the D.C. Court alsAgiaged in
Haynesworth

In a case of this nature, it is critical to determine whether a dagy w

owed bythe alleged tortfeasor to the person claiming injury. Woven

into this overall consideration is also the question of reasonable

foreseeablaisk to be perceived by the actor at the time of the

incident. Stated another way, we must ask “whether the inury t

that individual [to whom a duty was owed] was reasonably

foreseeablgo the defendant.Powell v. District of Columbia602

A.2d 1123, 1133 (D.C.1992) (citations omitted).

645 A.2d at 1098.Therefore, gen assuming that HBgharedart of the Navy's dy to protect

invitees on its premises from criminal a¢i® laintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs must still

allege sufficient facts to show that tteminal actionsof Mr. Alexis were foreseeabte HBC.

44 Counsel for Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs filed an identical Oppostid#tBC’s motion to
dismiss and to HBC’s supplemental brief in each of the three c&segurposes of clarity, the
Court will only use the docket numbers of the Kohler case for purposes ohsitati

45HBC had no law enforcement authority and the Navy retained the ultimate tgutbanake
decisions related to safety and security of the premises at the Navyp##icljlarly since
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“Where an injury is caused by the intervening criminal act of a third pangy,” t
D.C. Court of Appeals “has repeatedly held that liability depends upon a moresheight
showing of foreseeability than would be required if the act were mergligarmd.”” Berettg
872 A.2d at 641 (quotindPotts 697 A.2d at 1252). Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs argue
that in an assumption of duty case, HBC's actions establish its dutieseaneightened
foreseeabilty analysis moot. Specifically, they argue &t “[bjJecause HBC contractually
undertook to protectlje victimg from harm and its special relationship withd victimg
encompassed a duty of protection, no heightened showing of foreseeabilty &sdregsubject
HBC to liability.” Opp’n to HBC’'sSuppl. Br. [Dkt. 35]at 7. To support this propositionthese
Plaintiffs rely o a series of cases outside Bistrict of Columbia,see idat 3 n.4 & 8as well as
those D.C. cases thapine that a showing of heightened foreseeabiltyessened whethe
relationship between the parties strongly suggests a duty of pratection

Assumingheightened foreseeability does not apply becausdB@Navy
contract and the ensuinglationship between the partiggy suggesa duty of protectionsee
Workman320 F.3d at 264R laintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs fail to offexfficient factshat
Mr. Alexis’s criminal conduct was foreseeablehe Complaints do not show that it is
foreseeabléo a security guard at his or T#AVSEA postin Building 197thatsomeoneholding
a security clearance, authorized and assigned to work at the Navy Yardasgims of a “valid
temporary access badge or [(common access card)] CAC to pass througbttbeielbadge
reader,” and heading to his workstationthe fouth floor of Building 197would commit mass

murder. Kohler Complf 19; Zagami Compl. { 19; Jacobs Compl. {PBere is no allegation

military police also patrolled the premiseSeeHBC Contract at HBC @24; see als@®/16/2016
Hrg Tr. at 34:111.
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that HBC had knowledge of Mr. Alexis’s past behavior, character, or allegpdngity towards
violence. Mr. Alexis wasnot a trespasser or an intruder; rather, to HBC, Mr. Alexis waiysim
another contractor going to work at the Navy Yard with lawful access to Building V¥8éther
it is analyzed in terms of dytypreachpr proximate causation, the risk of harmnthe victims
was simply not foreseeablén such circumstances, HBC did not stand “in a superior pgsitio
did not “fully posess[] the power to protect” the foreseeable plaintiffisl d& not have the
abilty to foresee this harmCaldwell 631 F.2d at 1002

This factual void is in stark contrast with cases @@ldwellandCunninghanv.
District of Columbia Sports and Entertainment Commissiere not only was the defendant
armed witha contractuabbligation, ability and special skills, but alsavas hformed of the harm
that might reasonably be expected to occw foreseeable plaintiff. I6aldwell the defendant
owed a duty t@worker to take reasonable steps to protect him from foreseeableorlsiks t
health because defendant was, among dtirgst, “informed of high concentration of siica dust
and inadequate ventilation in the subway turinalsd had the authority to stop the woiH.
Similarly, in Cunninghama security company hired to provide crowd management and guest
services aaicorcert, owed a duty to plaintiffo protect him against injuries sustained as a result
of a crowd crush incident because there was, among other things, evidenclee ttratmd was
pretty packed and everyone was close together,” as well as of “crowd "sanfidgmosh pits”
Cunninghanv.D.C. Sports & Entm't Comm;mNo. Civ. A. 03839RWRJMF, 2005 WL
3276306, at *12 (D.D.C. Nov. 30, 2005)see alsad. at *8 (“Under these circumstances, [the
security company] assumed a duty to act reasonably so that attendees of énevemrid be

protected fronioreseeable risk§ (emphasis added).
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Moreover, in casesvhere “the heightened foreseeability is lessémke toa
special relationshigbetween the partie$oreseeabilitydoes not require “previous occurrences of
a particular harm, but can be met instead by a combination of factors wigictle§gndants an
increased awareness of the dangfea particular dminal act’ Doe 524 A.2d at 33see also
DiSalvg 974 A.2d at 872Sigmund, 475 F. Supp. 2d at 420 meet this burden, Plaintiffs
Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobdege thatNavy Yard and nine other miltary installations are
“subject to a heightenedski of violent attacks, and in particular gun violence” because they each
had “suffered a violent attack . prior to the September 16, 2013 shootinggecifically
including the Navy Yartbn two separate occasions in 1983 and 1984.” Kohler Cdhfl
Zagami Compl. 19; Jacobs Compl. 8. “Even if the relationship teenthil a greater duty of
protection,” DiSalvg 974 A.2d at 872, the alleged facts fall short of the showing made in those
caseghat recognizea duty of protectiorvis-a-vis the sliling scale analysisSee, e.gNovak
452 F.3d at 904Dominion Bank963 F.2d at 55-61; Doe 524 A.2d at 34Kline, 439 F.2d at
480.

“It is not sufficient to establish a general possibility that theermould occur,
instead, Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs must allege sufficietsto make it plausible
that HBC “had an increased awareness of the risk of [a shooting and mutgeNaty Yard].”
DiSalvg 974 A.2d at 872.The fact that other miltary instations had suffered violent attacks
over the past seventeen years does not suppbricasased awarenéssf the risk of a similar
attack at the Navy YardSigmund |475 F. Supp. 2d at 42 (noting that “the D.C. Court of
Appeals requires proof that tispecific type of crime, not just crime in general, be particularly
foreeeable at the relevant location”) (citations omitteMoreover, the fact that the Navy Yard

experienced two attacks more than thirty years ago is simply too remote td suppor
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nedgence claim against HBC. A careful review of D.C. law on thiseisbiows that “the
common thread” in all of these cases involving tpiadity criminal conduct is that the facts
supporting an inference of foreseeabilty “showed, if not awareness afabise risk, close
similarity in nature otemporal and spatial proximity the crime tissue.” DiSalvg 974 A.2d
at 874(emphasis addedaccord Sigmund JB617 F.3d at 51&-igueroa 879 F.2d at 14389
(requiring similar evidence of foreseeability a voluntary undertaking caseader llinois
law).46 The backgroundillegations lack that temporal and spatial proximity to the shooting of
September 2013.

Ona final note, Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami, and Jacotbsnreduce their claim to
a contractual issue. They argue that HBC’s decision to enter into a toofpaavide security
services at the Navy Yaghaverise to a duty to prect tre victims from criminal actions.See
Opp’'n to HBC MTD at 1412 (stating thaHBC “should not now, after the fact of its assumption
of the duty to provide contractual security services at the Navy Yard . . . bdqubrno escape
liability on the basis that it did not see the potential harnThis argumentis at odds with the
relevant caselaw. Under D.C. law, foreseealdi/a function ofluty (and proximate causation)
remains an essential element of a negligence @aidis “shaped by considerations of fairness
and results ultimately from policy decisighss well asocetal expectationsPresley25 A.3d
at 888 (internal quotation marks and citation omitte@purtslook atthe particular

circumstances of each case and consider the terms of a contract, the defentfaraizisk

46 But see Burns Int’l Sec. Servs. Inc. of Fla. v. Phila. Indem. Ins88® So. 2d 361, 3635
(Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2005)Yazquez v. Lago Grande Homeowners A€900 So. 2d 587, 5924
(Fla. Dist. Ct. App2004)). In the Court’s opinion, these cases cited by Plaintiffs Kohler,
Zagami, and Jacobs “overly relly] upon contract theory to the point of losing dbthes nature
of the claim made here, which asserts negligence, rather than breachadtcoftaldwell 631
F.2d at 997see also MacPhersphll N.E. at 1053.
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position, the defendant’s knowledge afl@ngerous condition, and the abilty to foresee the risk
of harm. See Caldwe|l631 F.2d at 997, 998 n.12

As part of this fairness and policy inquiry in determining the existencelutlya
in each particular case, cougsnerallyconsider multiple fators, such as

(1) foreseeabilty of harm to plaintiff; (2) degree ddrtainty that

plaintiff suffered injury; (3) closeness of connection between

defendant conduct and injury suffere(¥) maral blame attached

to defendant’s conduct; (5) policy ofgwenting future harm; (6)

extent of burden to defendant and the consequences to the

community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting

liability for breach; and (7) availability, cost, and prevalence of

insurance for the risk involved.
Vu, 538 F. Suppat 29(citation omitted) accordW. Page Keeton et aProsser and Keeton on
the Law of Tortg 53, at 3581.24 (5th ed. 1984) (cited with approvalHaynesworth645 A.2d
at 1098). Policy reasons and fairnepsevent holdingHBC liable for the unforeseeable criminal
actions ofMr. Alexis. It would be highly brdensomeand contrary to the provisions of the HBC
Contract!’ to search the person and effects of everyone entering the Navy Yard premises,
especiallythose authorized tenterBuilding 197. Under these circumstancefa] defendant
may not be held liable for harm actually caused where the chain of evelnig leathe injury

appears ‘highly extraordinary in retrospectMorgan, 468 A.2d at 1318 (quotingacy, 424

A.2d at 32621).

47 Because Mr. Alexis was assigned to work atthe Navy Yard and was authorigeter the
premises, HBC was not required under the contract to search his persosessjoos for
weapas; instead, Mr. Alexis was subject to random search édeHBC Contract at HBC
00054, 00070, 00211, and 00229.
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Accordingly, the Court holdshat HBC did not owe Plaintiffs Kohler, Zagami,
and Jacobs a duty to protect them against the unforeseeable criminal Mictélekis. The
negligence claims against HBC wil be dismissgd.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court wilantin part and deny in part the
motions to dismiss filed by HPES and The Experts in eatie ninecases It will also grant
HBC’s Motion to Dismissin the cases involving Plaintiffs Kohler (Case No.16836), Zagami
(Case No. 18638) and Jacobs (Case No:2%12).

All claims against Defendants wil be dismissed, with the excepfior{l)
Plaintiffs’ claims against HPES and The Experts fagligent retention and supervision of Mr.
Alexis; and (2) the claims of Plaintiffs Kohler, Ridgel, Zagaamd Jacobs against HPES for
negligent retention and supervision of The Experts.

A memorializing Order accompanies tMemorandum Opiniorin each case

Date:September 15, 2016
/sl
ROSEMARY M. COLLYER
United States District Judge

48 As an additional basis for dismissal, the Court finds that the féegedldo not support an
inference that HBC breached any potérdiaty under the contract or at common law. Plaintiffs
Kohler, Zagami, and Jacobs merely allege that HBC “fai[ed] totaiai Buiding 197 as a gun
free zone as required by law” and “to act with reasonable care under thestanoces.” Kohler
Compl. 113; Zagami Compl. 1 113; Jacobs Compl. § 123. These allegations are bare
statements that do not show that HBC was negligent in performing itstyseltties under the
contract. Nothing in the Complaints supports an inference (hatir. Alexis hadto be
searched notwithstanding his authorization to enter the premises; (2)atdBLCtd report the
criminal conduct to the appropriate authortties; or (3) HBC failed to detezriminal conduct of
Mr. Alexis once he intiated his shooting spree. In fact, the Court note®ftiier Ridgel, an
HBC security guard, was one of the fatal victims of the shooting. The Court nesctept as
true the legal conclusion that HBC failed to act with reasonable t@val, 556 U.S at678.
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